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PART 1 - BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION

Item 1: Description of Business

iPeople, inc. (‘iPeople”, “IPO” or “the Company”) is the holding and management company under House of
Investments, Inc. and the Yuchengco Group of Companies (“YGC”) that drives investments in the education
sector. The Company is a publicly listed company in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE:IPO).

Its main operating subsidiaries are the Malayan Education System, Inc. (Operating under the name of Maputia
University) (“Mapuaa University” or “MESI”), National Teachers College (doing business under the name The
National Teachers College) (“NTC”), University of Nueva Caceres (“UNC”) and Affordable Private Education
Center, Inc. (doing business under the name of APEC Schools) (“APEC”).

Mapta University also has three main wholly owned subsidiaries, the Malayan Colleges Laguna, Inc. A Maptia
School (“MCL”), Malayan High School of Science, Inc. (“MHSS”) and Malayan Colleges Mindanao, Inc. A
Mapta School (“MCM”). MCM is Maptia University’s newest incorporated school. MCM opened its doors to
senior high school and college students in July 2, 2018.

On October 1, 2018, the Board of Directors (BOD) of IPO (Parent Company) executed a memorandum of
agreement (MOA) for a proposed Plan of Merger between iPeople and AC Education, Inc. (AEI), the wholly
owned education arm of Ayala Corporation (AC), with iPeople as the surviving entity and HI and AC controlling
48.18% and 33.5%, respectively. The merger would bring together the educational group of HI and AC and will
enable accelerated growth and provide stronger academic offerings and career prospects for the students. The
merger will also unlock synergies between iPeople and AEI to be able to deliver quality education, aimed not only
at educating the Filipino youth but also at preparing their graduates to become major players in sustainable
businesses driven by adaptive technology.

The proposed merger was subsequently approved by the Parent Company’s Stockholders on December 12,2018
and was approved by the Philippine Competition Commission (PCC) on December 12, 2018. On April 24, 2019,
the Company received from the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Certificate of Filing of the
Articles and Plan of Merger approving the merger. On May 02, 2019, the merger by and between the Company
and of AEI became effective with iPeople being the surviving entity, is deemed to have acquired all the assets and
to have assumed all the liabilities of AEI. In exchange for the transfer of the net assets of AEI to iPeople, the
Company issued to the shareholders of AEI an aggregate of 295,329,976 shares with a total par value of P295.3
million.

On May 09, 2019, the Company acquired 281,642 MESI common shares owned by HI. With the acquisition,
iPeople now owns 100% of MESI.

In December 2019, the Company became the beneficial owners of an additional 2,743 shares of UNC common
shares which represents 24.99% ownership in UNC which puts iPeople’s ownership of UNC to 83.62%.

The Holding Company

Executive management takes an active role in the business operations of the companies under its portfolio.
Through participation in management and operations meetings and regular reviews, iPeople leads the planning
and monitoring of achievement of goals.

In particular, management watches operating metrics very closely and how these impact the financial metrics. By
monitoring operating metrics and financial metrics, executive management can always determine whether the
capital deployed to various businesses within the portfolio is being used efficiently and generate returns that meet
hurdle rates.

Executive management also engages in continuous business development programs. These business development
activities range from assisting subsidiaries in developing growth opportunities within their respective businesses,
developing expansion plans or at the holding company level, exploring new opportunities for portfolio
diversification.



Risk Factors at the Holding Company Level

iPeople, inc. is a holding company with significant involvement in education through its subsidiaries, is exposed
to risks that are particular to its nature of operations and the environment in which it operates. IPO believes that
risk management is the responsibility of all stakeholders within the Group. As such, risk management is integrated
into the businesses’ organizational activities and processes, embedded into the regular functions and operational
requirements to achieve the corporate goals.

The Board Risk Oversight Committee (BROC) assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its corporate governance
functions on risk management. The BROC is responsible for the oversight of the company’s enterprise risk
management system. The Chief Risk Officer reports to the BROC developments and matters relevant to risk
management. Management, through the company’s Risk Management Council, is accountable for managing the
associated risks. The subsidiaries are responsible for managing their respective risk exposures and reports
periodically to TPO.

During the year, IPO conducted a group-wide risk assessment. Following are the key risk factors that may impact
the objectives of the Company.

Reputation
The inability of the Company to maintain and failure to protect its reputation may adversely affect its objective

of creating and growing its value for its stakeholders. IPO communicates its vision, mission, core values, and
objectives to all its stakeholders and ensures all stakeholders are mindful with certainty of the company DNA
in accomplishing the corporate objectives. The IPO senior management participates in the Group’s strategic
planning, management, and operational meetings to ensure alignment with the holding company.

Market
The Philippine and Global economic condition may impact the Company’s investment and growth
commitments to its stakeholders. IPO is cognizant that pursuing business opportunities by expanding its
footprint is critical to sustain its growth commitments. IPO considers investments anchored on the Company’s
management expertise and available resources and uses acceptable financial modelling and testing considering
its investment commitments. Monitoring the market risks is imbedded in the normal course of business and
necessary measures are implemented to counter the potential impact.

Regulation
The Company’s business may be impacted by changes in laws and policies or the introduction of new laws or

regulations which may affect its business operations and financial results. IPO, operating in a regulated
industry, manages these risks by monitoring emerging laws and regulations and industry developments
affecting or may affect its business. IPO takes the position of proactively participating in consultations and
dialogues with pertinent regulatory agencies and organizations relevant to its operations strengthening its
capability to anticipate and adapt to potential changes.

Talent
The probability that a critical role will become vacant and cannot be satisfactorily filled may negatively affect
the Company’s continuity of its strategic imperatives and/or products and services standards. IPO established
programs in building key competencies and capability, as well as implementing succession planning to address
the exposures.

Information and Cyber Security/Safety
The failure to protect the Company from data breaches and/or the inability of the information systems to
adequately protect the critical data and infrastructure may adversely affect stakeholders’ confidence, disrupt
operations, and may result to business losses. To mitigate the risks, IPO ensures strict compliance with the
data privacy act and the Group’s information and communications technology security policy. IPO conducts
periodic review and information campaign through cybersecurity awareness programs.




School Operations

MALAYAN EDUCATION SYSTEM, INC. (OPERATING UNDER THE NAME OF MAPUA
UNIVERSITY)

Founded in 1925 by Don Tomas Mapia, an architecture graduate of Cornell University in the United States and
the first registered architect of the Philippines, Mapua University is the country’s premier engineering and
technological university. It envisions itself to be among the best universities in the world, unceasingly fostering
its long tradition of leading-edge excellence in various fields of studies, such as Engineering and Sciences,
Architecture and Design, Information Technology, Business and Management, Communication and Media
Studies, and Social Sciences and Education, and providing students with a learning environment that will make
them globally competitive.

It received a 4 Stars rating for excellence by the Quacquarelli Symonds (QS) Intelligence Unit under its QS
Stars Rating System. The QSIU is an independent organization providing global intelligence in line with the
higher education sectors around the world. It received a 5 Stars rating for Employability, Facilities, and Social
Responsibility; a 4 Stars rating for Teaching, Inclusiveness, and Program Strength; and a 3 Stars rating for
Internationalization and Academic Development.

Mapua has also been recognized by QS as one of Asia’s Top 550 universities in 2021 and 2022.

Offering locally and internationally accredited academic programs and other developmental programs that
provide international learning opportunities to its students, Mapta education meets global quality standards of
the professions for which it prepares its graduates.

Mapua is the first school in Southeast Asia to obtain accreditation for its programs from ABET, a US-based
non-profit, non-governmental agency that accredits college and university programs in applied and natural
science, computing, engineering, and engineering technology. To date, Mapua has the most number of ABET-
accredited programs for a single campus in the country, with 11 of its engineering programs accredited by
ABET’s Engineering Accreditation Commission (EAC) and three of its computing programs accredited by
ABET’s Computing Accreditation Commission (CAC).

Mapua also has the most number of engineering programs (Chemical Engineering, Civil Engineering, Computer
Engineering, Electrical Engineering, Electronics Engineering, Environmental and Sanitary Engineering, and
Mechanical Engineering), together with its three IT programs, recognized as Centers of Excellence by the
Philippine Commission Higher on Education.

The University’s strong academic foundation ensures its graduates to be of high caliber, taking lead roles in the
global arena. To date, it has produced 385 topnotchers across 11 of national professional licensure examinations
since 2000. Its students are also prepared for the world of practice through their exposure to international
exchange program, on-the-job trainings, plant visits, conferences, and research, development, and innovation
undertakings, which are achieved through the University’s continuous forming of international linkages with
prestigious companies and universities.

A recognized leader in digital education and online learning in the Philippines and one of the most digital-ready
universities in Asia, Maputa continuously provides enriching and engaging learning experiences to its students
using the latest in educational technology, enhancing its capability for effective teaching and learning in a digital
environment.

Through Mapua Ubiquitous Online Experience (UOx), its initiative in delivering fully online programs through
its very own platform, Cardinal EDGE or Education in a Digital and Global Environment, Mapua delivers on its
commitment in developing and bolstering its world-class quality of education, reaching more learners locally
and across the globe through its online learning space. To date, it offers six Commission on Higher Education-
approved fully online bachelor’s degree programs in engineering and information technology and nine fully
online master’s degree programs in engineering and information technology.

Mapta aims for the empowerment of the youth by providing education grounded on academic excellence and
strength of character. It emphasizes the importance of the core values of discipline, excellence, commitment,
integrity, and relevance (DECIR), ensuring that it does its share in producing men and women who live fulfilled
and meaningful lives.



MALAYAN COLLEGES LAGUNA, INC. (A MAPUA SCHOOL)

Located in Cabuyao, Laguna, alongside several science and industrial parks, Malayan Colleges Laguna (MCL)
was established to extend the brand of Mapua University to the south by offering programs in engineering and
architecture, accountancy, business, communication, computer science, information technology, multimedia arts,
psychology, and tourism management. It has 21 baccalaureate programs, of which three (3) are fully online degree
programs. It has five degree-offering colleges and one institute: the Mapua Institute of Technology at Laguna, the
E.T. Yuchengco College of Business, the College of Computer and Information Science, the College of Arts and
Science, the Maptia-PTC College of Maritime Education, and the Institute for Excellence in Continuing Education
and Lifelong Learning.

The institution’s community started with 860 students in 2007. Today, there are 5,665 students in both college
and Senior High School (SHS). MCL, like its parent school Mapua University, offers SHS. MCL also adapted
Mapta’s design for its SHS curricula and embedded Internet of Things (“IoT”) which gave MCL a unique
advantage in the secondary education sector, ensuring that our students and curricula remain globally competitive.
MCL-SHS was opened in 2016, welcoming 1,021 Grade 11 students.

As part of its pledge to provide quality education to its students, the seven MCL’s engineering programs, namely:
Chemical Engineering, Civil Engineering, Computer Engineering, Electronics Engineering, Electrical
Engineering, Industrial Engineering, and Mechanical Engineering, are all PTC-ACBET accredited. In addition,
its Marine Engineering (MarE) and Marine Transportation (MT) programs were also awarded re-certification for
five (5) years (A.Y. 2019-2020 to 2023-2024) by the Belgian Maritime Inspectorate (BMI) in December 2019 and
passed its periodic audit in January 2021. MCL was also granted ISO21001 certification and has passed the DNV
routine audit in December 2021.

Driven by a passion for knowledge, MCL seeks to meet the challenges of globalization to produce graduates who
can exercise their skills in the global labor market. With its excellent facilities, technologically advanced, and IT-
integrated curricula, MCL is envisioned as a Center of Excellence for science and technology education in
Southern Luzon. MCL has successfully produced graduates and students with consistently excellent performance
in licensure and certification exams and local and national competitions and quiz bowls. In 2016,
FindUniversity.ph marked it as the number one private school in CALABARZON and the 10th best school in the
Philippines.

MCL continued to excel in the different licensure and certification exams, garnering outstanding performances
and perfect passing rates (100%) in the Electrical Engineer Licensure Exam, Electronics Technician Licensure
Exam, and the Industrial Engineering Certification Exam. In the August 2019 Mechanical Engineer Licensure
Examination, MCL, having obtained a 95.65% passing rate, ranked as the no. 2 Top Performing School with 10
to 49 Examinees. The institution has been consistent with its licensure exam results for Mechanical Engineering,
ranking as the no. 1 Top Performing School among private higher education institutions and no. 4 Top Performing
School in the Philippines with its 95.05% weighted passing rate in the 2014 to 2018 Mechanical Engineer
Licensure Exam.

MCL was granted Autonomous Status, as per CHED Memorandum Order No. 12, Series of 2019. CHED has
extended its validity period until 2023, as per CHED Memorandum Order No. 7 series of 2021. Given this, MCL
has offered two new programs, B.S. Business Administration and B.S. Psychology, starting Academic Year 2020-
2021.

As a result of its quest to continually improve 2 1st-century education, MCL has been awarded the Blackboard
Catalyst Award for Leading Change in 2017 and Blackboard Award for Professional Development in recognition
of its Opportunities for Lifelong (#SamaOLL) Project in 2020. In 2021, MCL took home the Blackboard Award
for Optimizing Student Experience.

MCL has achieved another milestone by obtaining a three-star overall rating from the Quacquarelli Symonds (QS)
Star Rating System from the United Kingdom in 2020. Significantly, MCL received a five-star rating for
Employability, due to the competence of its graduates as professionals in their respective fields; a four-star rating
for Facilities, for its smart campus and drive to deliver an advanced learning experience for students; and a three-
star rating for Social Responsibility and Inclusiveness, for being true to its mission to contribute to the solution of
industry’s and society’s problems through the various engagements of students with communities.

In 2021, MCL was awarded the most outstanding school in the Laguna Excellence Awards. Also, MCL was
granted membership in the Philippine Association of Colleges and Universities in January 2022. Through this,
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the institution has leveled up its national stature, assuring students and stakeholders of its dedication to its
vision.

MALAYAN COLLEGES MINDANAO (A MAPUA SCHOOL), INC.

Incorporated in 2015, Malayan Colleges Mindanao (A Mapua School), Inc. was established to offer Mapua-
education in Davao and Mindanao. MCM looms along General Douglas MacArthur Highway in Matina, Davao
City, and opened its doors to senior high school and college students on July 2, 2018.

MCM has the core vision of transforming students to become globally competitive professionals highly preferred
by industries locally and abroad. The institution also distinguishes itself from rest of the colleges and universities
in Mindanao through:

Learner-centered outcomes-based education
Blended online and face-to-face learning sessions
Industry Partnerships

Mindanao-centric Learning

Advanced Learning Facilities

LR

With 14 baccalaureate programs in engineering, architecture, arts and sciences, information science, business, and
complete senior high school academic and technical-vocational tracks, MCM has reached its target number of
enrollees in its first year of operation in Davao City.

For school year 2019-2020, MCM expands global initiatives with new partners and opening of three additional
programs under Alfonso T. Yuchengco College of Business namely, B.S. Accountancy, B.S. Management
Accounting and B.S. Tourism Management.

Having satisfactorily complied all the CHED RQAT requirements and standards in 2020, MCM was granted an
approval to offer two new baccalaureate programs of study—B.S. Biology and B.S. Psychology—under arts and
sciences starting school year 2021-2022.

For school year 2022-2023, The Department of Education (DepEd) in Region XI granted approval to MCM to
offer Junior High Schools completing the High School program offerings from Grade 7 to Grade 12.

In line with its mission to provide a holistic learning environment, MCM had collaborated with various
organizations in spearheading transformative school activities such as coastal clean-up and recycling plastic
wastes projects, water conservation and environmental dialogues with private and public sectors as well as
donation drives for the victims of recurring earthquakes in Mindanao and for typhoon victims in the country.

MCM has recently reached a milestone with its DOST-funded research project, RESILIEMC. Through the Office
of Research, Development, and Innovation, MCM is working with a pool of experts in Davao City to advance the
COVID-19 response in the region. A Memorandum of Agreement was signed among the Department of Science
and Technology, Philippine Council for Health Research and Development (PCHRD), and MCM in January 2021,
forging each party’s shared commitment to develop the health system in Mindanao.

In the pursuit of Excellence and Relevance, Malayan Colleges Mindanao continues to strive to go beyond
expectations and be involved in the development of sustainable solutions to global issues, at the same time it
upholds the values of educational excellence, social responsibility, and environmental preservation.

MALAYAN HIGH SCHOOL OF SCIENCE, INC.

Established in 2006, Malayan High School of Science (MHSS), a Mapua Junior High School, is a leading junior
high school in Manila. It aims to be a global center of excellence in secondary education especially in the area of
science, technology, engineering, arts and mathematics (STEAM). Malayan High School of Science is focused
on producing scientifically and technologically inclined learners.

Malayan High School of Science provides advanced Science, Technology and Mathematics curriculum to
Junior High School learners. It upholds an exemplary Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and Mathematics
(STEAM) Junior High School education by offering robotics, multimedia, coding programs, advanced Science,
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Mathematics, and outcome-based curriculum. It houses state-of-the-art classrooms, laboratories, and facilities
and utilizes digital resources and technologies for teaching and learning. MHSS product or service exists
because it produced learners who are successful in the field of pure and applied Science.

MHSS also now offers Home Education Program that will cater to students who prefer a different mode of
learning but can still enjoy the Malayan curriculum in the comforts of their own homes.

MHSS promotes the holistic development of its learners, providing them avenues inside and outside the campus
to showcase their various talents and skills. It implements a Safe School Policy and employs strict security
measures, maintaining an environment that is safe and conducive to learning.

NATIONAL TEACHERS COLLLEGE (DOING BUSINESS UNDER THE NAME OF THE
NATIONAL TEACHERS COLLEGE)

The National Teachers College was founded by Dr. Segundo M. Infantado, Sr., a former Director of Public
Instruction of the Philippines, and Dr. Flora Amoranto-Ylagan, one of the country's leading educators. NTC was
officially incorporated on September 29, 1928 and was authorized by the Department of Public Instruction on
April 17, 1929, to operate as an educational institution. Its doors opened to the student public on June 10, 1929
and was granted government recognition on February 17, 1930.

NTC was the Philippines' first Higher Education Institution (HEI) to offer collegiate programs dedicated to
teacher education. Among private educational institutions in the Philippines, it has attained a leading place in
educational leadership, particularly in the field of teacher education. Its performance in the Licensure
Examination for Teachers has always been above the national passing rate.

Gearing toward industrialization and developing professionals for national productivity and global
competitiveness, collegiate programs were expanded to include business, hospitality, information technology,
and psychology. The Senior High School program was likewise opened, offering both Academic and Tech-Voc.
tracks.

The following programs have been accredited by the Philippine Association of Colleges and Universities-
Commission on Accreditation (PACU-COA): Bachelor of Science in Office Administration (Level 1), Bachelor
in Elementary Education (Level 3), Bachelor in Secondary Education (Level 3), Master of Arts in Education
(Level 2), and Doctor of Education (Level 2).

NTC has continually striven to keep abreast of educational development here and abroad to enrich student life.
Partnering with industry experts such as Google for Education and LinkedIn helps ensure the career readiness of
its graduates, thus contributing to nation-building. It has always endeavored to make its learning system and
student activities relevant and modernized for students to experience the joy of learning for them to learn more
and excel better.

While continuously upgrading its services, NTC maintains its affordability, bringing accessible quality education
to transform the lives of Filipinos. With a student population of more than 15,000, NTC continues to fulfill its
mission of educating and training teachers, administrators, supervisors, and other professionals who will serve the
country and the world at large.

UNIVERSITY OF NUEVA CACERES

The University of Nueva Caceres (UNC) is the first university in Southern Luzon. UNC traces its origins to the
benevolence of Dr. Jaime Hernandez, former Secretary of the Department of Finance, as his way of giving back
to the Bicolano community. In February 1948, Dr. Hernandez together with other prominent Bicolanos, formed
the Nueva Caceres College. Five years after its establishment, the school attained University status.

The University has set an aggressive roadmap towards UNC's Big Hairy Audacious Goal: From First to # 1.
UNC’s goal is to be the top university of choice in Bicol, with its differentiation defined as A Future-Ready
Outcomes-Based Education Leader in the Bicol Region. UNC shall welcome and nurture students to be future-
ready, work-ready, and life-ready by following its tag line "Makatapos, Magkatrabaho at Magtagumpay."



Currently, the University offers complete basic education, four programs in the College of Arts and Sciences,
thirteen in the College of Business and Administration, five in the College of Computer Studies, thirteen in the
College of Education, six in the College of Engineering, Nursing Course, Criminal Justice Education, Juris
Doctor, and three Doctorate and fifteen Master’s Degree programs in the Graduate Studies department.

As 0f 2021, a total of 32 programs representing 56% of all active programs, are accredited by the Philippine
Association of Colleges and Universities Commission on Accreditation (PACU-COA). It conferred the Level 111
status in five Bachelor of Science in Business Administration programs; in five Master of Arts in Education
programs; in Master of Business Administration; two Bachelor of Arts programs; two Bachelor of Elementary
Education programs; in Bachelor of Special Needs Education; and seven Bachelor of Secondary Education
programs. Bachelor of Science in Biology, Bachelor of Science in Accountancy, Bachelor of Science in
Nursing, and Elementary Education were accredited with Level II status. The Bachelor of Science in Computer
Science, Bachelor of Science in Information Technology, Bachelor of Science in Electronics Engineering,
Doctor of Philosophy major in Behavioral Management, and Junior High School were also recognized with a
Level I accreditation status.

During the last seventy-four years, the University of Nueva Caceres has produced 161 top-notchers in
government Bar and Board examinations. Aside from this, UNC has also produced many student leaders
awarded by national and regional recognition bodies. This hefty collection of “golds” speaks well of the quality
of instruction in the UNC. Further evidence of this is shown by the thousands of UNC graduates who are now
professionals or who occupy responsible positions in the government and in the private sector.

The disruption to educational delivery of the COVID19 pandemic made it possible to quickly shift to flexible
learning delivery. UNC Red Ways these Gray Days is the University’s Learning Continuity Plan which offers 2
flexible learning solutions: Flexi Tech, an online learning mode, and Flexi Kit, a modular learning mode.
Student services such as the health clinic and guidance were also moved online to cater to the needs of our
students.

AFFORDABLE PRIVATE EDUCATION CENTER, INC. (DOING BUSINESS UNDER THE NAME
OF APEC SCHOOLS)

APEC Schools was established in 2013 with the vision of providing quality private education affordable to
Filipino students. APEC is a pioneer in the high school education sector and was one of the first institutions to
offer a genuine technology enabled educational curriculum and delivery.

APEC Schools are specialists in the blended learning model and was one of the very few schools whose students
were able to complete the academic year when the pandemic first hit in 2020. The school offers advanced and
innovative learning at very accessible prices across a wide socio-economic market segment to Junior and Senior
High School students in its Metro Manila and CALABARZON branches.

From its initial 130 students from its first branch, APEC Schools has grown to 20 school branches with over
8,000 students and 450 employees in 2022.

APEC Schools introduced Senior High School in 2016 with the Accounting and Business Management (ABM)
strand, along with its proprietary program Accelerated Career Experience, a job-immersion program developed
together with partner employers. In 2018, the school celebrated its Sth anniversary and graduated its first cohort.
Two thousand senior high school students graduated that year, the majority being admitted to top colleges and
universities, while around 15% started working with job offers within three months of graduation. A year later,
the school offered the Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) academic strand.

APEC Schools takes pride in its outcomes. The college entrance exam passing rate of its graduates is higher
than the national average, with students gaining entry to top universities and state colleges of their choice. In
addition, 96% of the Senior High School graduates who seek employment have received job offers within 120
days after graduating.

The school’s commitment has always been to create a better future for its students. In 2020, APEC Schools
offered two innovative new programs to help its students continue with their education despite the pandemic:
APEC Agile Distance Learning program and APEC Flex Homeschool program.



In December of the same year, Google recognized APEC Schools as a Google Reference School - the first and
only one in the Philippines. The recognition is for those who utilize the Google educational tools in creative,
innovative, and exemplary ways, to create a positive impact on the educational development of the students.

APEC Schools is committed to creating the future of the students that gets #BetterEachDay.

Risk Factors related to School Operations

Business Resiliency

The inability to bring the Company out of operational disruptions, resume critical processes, and restore
normal operations may result to service breach and financial losses. The Group is committed to address risks
that may cause disruptions to its operations. Measures are put in place to mitigate the risks as provided for in
the Group’s business continuity management plan and disaster risk management program with the end
objective of bringing back the business activities to normal operations as soon as possible. Further, the Group
maintains and continues to invest in online platforms to improve the Group’s ability to provide services
remotely and meet stakeholders’ expectations. Where applicable and appropriate, specific insurance is
obtained to help reduce the financial impact of the operational disruptions and damages.

Information and Cyber Security/Safety
The failure to protect the Company from data breaches and/or the inability of the information systems to
adequately protect the critical data and infrastructure may adversely affect stakeholders’ confidence, disrupt
operations, and may result to business losses. To mitigate the risks, the Group ensures strict compliance with
the data privacy act and the Group’s information and communications technology security policy. The Group
conducts periodic review and information campaign through cybersecurity awareness programs. The Group
also maintains and invests in cybersecurity resources.

Regulation
The Company’s business may be impacted by changes in laws and policies or the introduction of new laws or

regulations which may affect its business operations and financial results. The Group, operating largely in the
regulated education industry, manages these risks by monitoring emerging laws and regulations and industry
developments affecting or may affect its business. The Group takes the position of proactively participating in
regular consultations and dialogues with pertinent regulatory agencies and organizations relevant to its
operations and aiming to attain thought leadership status in the education industry.

Talent
The probability that a critical role will become vacant and cannot be satisfactorily filled may negatively affect
the Company’s continuity of its strategic imperatives and/or products and services standards. IPO established
programs in building key competencies and capability, as well as implementing succession planning to address
the exposures. In addition, the Group maintains and continues to improve its employee engagement through
activities and programs, including but not limited to individual development plan.

Market

The Philippine and Global economic condition may impact the Company’s investment and growth
commitments to its stakeholders. The Group is cognizant that pursuing business opportunities is critical to
sustain its growth commitments. The Group considers opportunities anchored on the company’s management
expertise and available resources. Monitoring the market risks is imbedded in the normal course of business
and necessary measures are implemented to counter the potential impact. The Group partnered with business
organizations to cushion the potential financial impact to relevant stakeholders, implements process
improvements and other cost-saving measures, strengthens its online platforms to provide affordable distance
learning programs.

Reputation
The inability of the Company to maintain and failure protect its reputation may adversely affect its objective

of creating and growing its value for its stakeholders. The Group communicates its vision, mission, core values,
and objectives to all its stakeholders and ensures all stakeholders are mindful with certainty of the company
DNA in accomplishing the corporate objectives. The Group has stakeholder action centers to address concerns,
conducts social listening to determine reputational concerns, and implements social media policy to ensure
appropriate community behavior.



Campus Safety and Security
The inability to provide a safe environment and/or operationalize adequate campus security and preventive
measures may adversely affect the Group’s reputation, student enrolment, and talent retention. The Group
manages the risks by implementing a campus security program, ensuring strict compliance with regulatory
agencies’ requirements on safety and security in educational institutions. The Group maintains and continually
improves appropriate processes and equipment aimed at securing its facilities and stakeholders.

Operational
The inefficiencies and/or failure of internal processes and/or systems, non-compliance with policies and

regulatory requirements, human errors in the conduct of the Group’s daily activities may result to financial
losses. To manage these risks, the Group ensures that all operating units have efficient and effective processes
and support systems to meet and deliver its objectives. Further, the Group periodically assesses existing
controls and compliance to ensure its continued relevance and effectiveness by conducting periodic operational
audit.

Item 2: Properties

iPeople and its subsidiaries own land in the following areas enumerated below:

PROPERTY DATE

DESCRIPTION ACQUIRED
MALAYAN EDUCATION SYSTEM, INC.
Intramuros, Manila 1999 17,997 School campus
Intramuros, Manila 2013 513.5 Vacant lot for expansion
Sta. Cruz, Makati City 2018 5,114 School Campus
MALAYAN HIGH SCHOOL OF SCIENCE INC.
Paco, Manila | 2002 | 3,624 | School campus
MALAYAN COLLEGES LAGUNA, INC.
Cabuyao, Laguna 2010 60,000 School campus
Cabuyao, Laguna 2012 14,640 Vacant lot for expansion
MALAYAN COLLEGES MINDANAO, INC.
Brgy. Ma-a, Davao City 2015 23,000 School Campus
Brgy. Ma-a, Davao City 2018 7,000 School Campus
NATIONAL TEACHERS COLLEGE
Quiapo, Manila 2019 7,316.7 School Campus
Quiapo, Manila 2019 535.3 School Campus
Quiapo, Manila 2019 714.4 School Campus
UNIVERSITY OF NUEVA CACERES
J. Hernandez Ave., Naga City | 2019 | 49,917 | School Campus
AC COLLEGE OF ENTERPRISE AND TECHOLOGY, INC.
San Jose del Monte City, Bulacan | 2019 | 6,098 | Vacant Lot

The following details the properties that iPeople inc.’s subsidiary have leases:
PROPERTY LEASE

LOCATION

DESCRIPTION EXPIRATION

AFFORDABLE PRIVATE EDUCATION CENTER, INC.

7-Storey Building Head Office 350.00 11/01/2024
5-Storey Building V. Luna 865.00 06/30/2030
3-Storey Building North Fairview 1174.00 06/30/2027
4-Storey Building C. Raymundo 1250.00 06/30/2027
4-Storey Building Marikina Heights 1247.00 06/30/2026
4-Storey Building Grace Park West 795.96 04/30/2027
5-Storey Building Tondo (Annex) 1204.00 06/30/2025
4-Storey Building Muntinlupa 1080.00 06/30/2027
3-Storey Building Sta. Rita Sucat 1500.00 04/30/2025
4-Storey Building Dasmarifias 878.00 04/30/2027
4-Storey Building Bacoor-Molino 1215.00 06/30/2029
3-Storey Building Roxas Boulevard 537.00 04/30/2029
3-Storey Building Pateros 1230.00 06/30/2028
4-Storey Building Taytay 515.92 08/31/2022




3-Storey Building Ortigas Ext., Cainta 960.00 12/31/2030
4-Storey Building Calumpang-Annex 1095.00 03/31/2028
1-Storey Building JRU Lipa 1255.28 06/30/2024
3-Storey Building Las Pinas 1266.00 06/30/2026
4-Storey Building Concepcion Dos 756.00 06/30/2026
4-Storey Building New Manila 781.00 04/30/2027

S-Storei Buildini San Pablo 1480.00 06/30/2029

Item 3 — Legal Proceedings
Mapua University is involved in certain disputes that arise in the ordinary conduct of business. Management
believes that these suits will ultimately be settled in the normal course of operations and will not adversely

affect the subsidiary’s financial position and operating results.

Item 4 - Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 30 July 2021 that required the vote of
the Company’s stockholders owning more than 2/3 of the outstanding number of shares
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PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 5 — Market for Issuer’s common equity and related stockholder matters

The common stock (PSE: IPO) is traded on the Philippine Stock Exchange.

STOCK PRICE
PERIOD HIGH
2022 First Quarter 8.87 6.58
2021 Fourth Quarter 7.69 6.81
2021 Third Quarter 7.50 6.66
2021 Second Quarter 8.00 6.02
2021 First Quarter 9.00 6.58
2020 Fourth Quarter 10.80 7.01
2020 Third Quarter 8.80 7.00
2020 Second Quarter 8.99 5.22
2020 First Quarter 9.44 7.00
2019 Fourth Quarter 9.50 7.00
2019 Third Quarter 10.10 9.00
2019 Second Quarter 12.18 10.08

Top 20 owners of common stock as of March 31, 2022:

STOCKHOLDER NUMBER OF SHARES % OF TOTAL
HOUSE OF INVESTMENTS, INC. 501,940,749.00 48.07%
AYALA CORPORATION 349,829,961.00 33.50%
A. SORIANO CORPORATION 92,945,934.00 8.90%
PCD NOMINEE CORP - FILIPINO 89,357,373.00 8.56%
HYDEE MANAGEMENT & RES. CORP. 653,800.00 0.06%
YAN, LUCIO 325,000.00 0.03%
ONG PAC, SALLY C. 299,000.00 0.03%
LEY, FELY 243,750.00 0.02%
PCD NOMINEE CORP - NON-FILIPINO 236,624.00 0.02%
TECSON, BINGSON U. 195,000.00 0.02%
MENDOZA, ALBERTO MENDOZA &/OR JEANIE C. 165,750.00 0.02%
PHILIPPINE ASIA EQUITY SECURITIES INC. U-055 146,250.00 0.01%
KHO, DAVID L. 140,500.00 0.01%
ANSALDO GODINEZ & CO., INC. 133,438.00 0.01%
CHAN, VICKY L. 130,000.00 0.01%
SECURITIES INVESTORS PROTECTION FUND, INC. 130,000.00 0.01%
LI, LUISA 113,100.00 0.01%
UY, JOHNNY S. 97,500.00 0.01%
UY-TIOCO, GEORGE 97,500.00 0.01%
DE JESUS, REYNALDO 82,500.00 0.01%
SUB TOTAL 1,037,263,729 99.33%
Others 6,999,468 0.67%
TOTAL 1,044,263,197 100.00%

iPeople has shareholders owning a total of 1,044,263,197 shares as of March 31, 2022.

Dividends

In accordance with the Corporation Code of the Philippines, iPeople intends to declare dividends (either in cash
or stock or both) in the future. Common stockholders of the Company are entitled to receive a proportionate
share in cash dividends that may be declared by the Board of Directors out of surplus profits derived from the
Company’s operations. The same right exists with respect to a stock dividend of which the declaration is
subject to the approval of stockholders representing at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding shares entitled to
vote. The amount will depend on the Company’s profits and its capital expenditure and investment
requirements at the relevant time.
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The company has declared cash dividends as follows:

DIVIDEND PER SHARE TOTAL AMOUNT
2022 P0.16 P167.01MM
2021 £0.06 (Q2) and P0.23940 (Q4) P312.66MM
2020 P0.07 P73.25MM
2019 £0.06 (Q1) and P0.01373 (Q2). P59.27MM

iPeople has not identified any restriction that limits the ability to pay dividends on common equity or that are
likely to do so in the future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities, Including Recent Issuance of Securities Constituting
an Exempt Transaction

There was no sale of unregistered or exempt securities, nor recent issuance of securities constituting an exempt
transaction in 2021.

Description of Registrant's Securities: Common Stock

The equity capital structure of the firm as of December 31, 2021 is shown below:

Authorized Capital P2,000,000,000
Subscribed Capital P1,044,263,197
Paid Up Capital P1,044,263,197

The Board of Directors may declare dividends only from surplus profits arising from the business of the
Company.

No holder of the capital stock, whether said stock is now or hereafter authorized, shall have any right, as a
stockholder, to purchase or subscribe to any additional shares of the capital stock, whether such shares of capital
stock are now or hereafter authorized by the Company as determined by resolution of the Board of Directors.

No transfer of stock or interest, which will reduce the ownership of Filipino stockholders to less than the

percentage of the capital stock required by law, shall be allowed or permitted to be recorded in the proper books,
and this restriction shall also be indicated in all stock certificates of the corporation.

Item 6 — Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Plan
of Operation

Plan of Operations within the next twelve months

(a) The management believes that iPeople can satisfy its cash requirements within the next twelve
months without the need to raise additional funds;

(b) There are no major product research and development that iPeople will perform within the next
twelve months;

(c) There are no expected purchase or sale of plant and significant equipment within the next twelve
months, and

(d) There are no expected significant changes in the number of employees.

Management Discussion and Analysis
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS - Year 2021 vs. Year 2020
Financial Position

Total consolidated assets increased from £15.71 billion to 16.13 billion, or a 3% increase compared to last year.
The increase in total assets is mainly due to the higher cash balance of the Group and increase in the appraised
value of land.

Consolidated current assets increased to £3.06 billion this year from £2.66 billion last year primarily due to higher
cash and cash equivalents and higher prepaid expenses of schools. The increase in cash and cash equivalents was
mainly due the cash generated by the school operations.
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Receivables pertain mainly to matriculation and miscellaneous fees due from students. Receivables balance this
year is P1.03 billion. There was no significant change in the balance of receivables. . Prepaid expenses and other
current assets went up from 2271 million to 2391 million mainly because of the increase in various prepaid
expenses to schools that will be amortized in the next months.

Total consolidated non-current assets this year is P13.07 billion. There was no significant change in the balance
of other non-current assets. The increased in the appraised value of land was offset by the depreciation and
amortization during the year.

Total consolidated liabilities of the Group is P5.01 billion. There was no significant change in the balance of total
liabilities. The change in total liabilities balance is only 4%.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses pertain largely to obligations to suppliers. Accounts payable and accrued
expenses decline by 10% mainly due the payment payables related to the development of the new Mapua Makati
campus.

Unearned income is lower from 2681 million in December 2020 to 2658 million this year due to timing difference
with regards to the start of school term.

Total consolidated equity increased from £10.49 billion in December 2020 to 11.12 billion this year due to the
net income for the year and other comprehensive income related to the revaluation increment on land. Equity
attributable to Parent is at 210.87 billion, from £10.25 billion in December 2020.

Results of Operations

The Group posted a consolidated net income of R663.79 million, which is significantly higher than the P242.17
million net income in the previous year. The 174% increase net income in 2021 is attributed to the better results
of operations of IPO schools primarily because of higher revenues, lower expenses of schools and lower income
taxes due to the approval of the CREATE Bill.

Revenue from school operations is the primary source of revenue of the Group. Revenue went up by 11% to P
3.35 billion from £3.02 billion last year. The increase in revenue was primarily due to higher enrolment in Mapua
University, MCM and NTC and higher revenue of other IPO schools due to changes in school calendar that
affected the timing of revenue recognition.

Consolidated cost of tuition and other fees and general and administrative expenses of P2.62 billon is almost the
same as last year’s P2.64 billion. The Group was able to maintain the same level of expenses despite the higher
enrolment in the current school year because of effective cost management and continued suspension of face-to-
face classes that started in March 2020.

Interest expense and other finance charges decreased from 2151.76 million last year to P138.58 million this year
due to lower outstanding bank loan balance during the year and lower interest related to lease liabilities.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS - Year 2020 vs. Year 2019
Financial Position

Total consolidated assets decreased from £16.27 billion to £15.71 billion, or a 3% decline compared to 2019. The
decrease in total assets is due to the sale of a subsidiary company that owns a real property. The additional
development cost of the new MESI Makati campus and the remaining cash proceeds from sale of subsidiary
partially offset the decline in asset due to sale of said subsidiary.

Consolidated current assets increased to 2.66 billion 2020 from £2.32 billion in 2019 primarily due to higher
cash and cash equivalents and higher accounts receivable of schools. The increase in cash and cash equivalents
was mainly due the proceeds from sale of subsidiary.

Receivables pertain mainly to matriculation and miscellaneous fees due from students. The 6% increase in
receivable was mainly due to timing difference with regards to the start of school term, and the extended payment
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period of school fees to provide relief to students and parents having financial difficulty brought about by the
pandemic. Prepaid expenses and other current assets went up from 2176 million to 271 million mainly because
of the additional prepayment to suppliers.

Consolidated non-current assets declined by £0.91 billion or 7% lower mainly due to the sale of a subsidiary that
owns areal property. The decline was partially offset by the continued development of new Makati campus. There
was no significant change in the balance of other non-current assets.

Total consolidated liabilities were lower by 20%, primarily because of full payment of the short-term loans of
MESIL

Accounts payable and accrued expenses pertain largely to obligations to suppliers. There was no significant
movement in the balance of accounts payable and accrued expense.

Payables to related parties pertain to services provided by the Group’s affiliates to support its operations and
oversee the on-going construction of school building in Makati.

Unearned income is lower from 781 million in December 2019 to 2681 million due to timing difference with
regards to the start of school term as well as lower student enrolment.

Total consolidated equity increased from £9.73 billion in December 2019 to £10.49 billion in 2020 due to the net
income for the year and other comprehensive income related to the revaluation increment on land. Equity
attributable to Parent is at 210.25 billion, from £9.51 billion in December 2019.

Results of Operations

The Group posted a consolidated net income of £242.17 million, which is 12% lower than the £274.09 million in
2019.

Compared t02019, the consolidated revenue and expenses of the Group went up generally due to the increase in
enrollment of MCM and consolidation of the full year revenue and expenses of subsidiaries acquired in May 2,
2019. The Group started recognizing results of operations of APEC, NTC and UNC in May 2, 2019 when the
merger was completed.

The higher net income in 2020 is mainly attributed to the higher income contribution of NTC, improving results
of operations of MCM and gain from sale of a subsidiary. However, if the non-recurring gain from sale of
subsidiary is excluded, the net income of the Group is lower than previous year because of the lower enrollment
due to the pandemic, higher depreciation and interest expenses on loans. MCM incurred a significantly lower net
loss mainly due to material increase in enrolment and lower interest expense. The result of future operations of
MCM is expected to continue to improve as it accepts more students in the succeeding years of operation.

Revenue from school operations is the primary source of revenue of the Group. Consolidated revenues in 2020
was significantly affected by the delay in the start of school year 2020 — 2021, tuition fee rebates given to students
due to suspension of face-to-face classes and the economic impact of the pandemic that affected the capability of
some students to enroll in private schools and universities. On the other hand, the P1.03 billion revenue
contribution of new subsidiaries in 2020 covering twelve months, which is 36% higher than their P809 million
contribution in 2019 covering eight months, and the increase in revenues of MCM were able to mitigate the
adverse impact of the pandemic. All these taken together resulted to the Group’s P3.00 billion consolidated
revenue that is almost equal to that of the previous year.

Cost of tuition and other fees and general and administrative expenses increased by 5% or 2114 million higher
from same period the prior year. The higher expenses in 2020 was primarily due to the operating expenses of
APEC, UNC and NTC that covered twelve months period in 2020 compared to only eight months in 2019.
Compared to the same twelve months period the previous year, expenses of schools in 2020 were generally lower
because of the suspension of face-to-face classes since March 2020 due to the pandemic.

Interest expense and other finance charges increased from R129.34 million in 2019 to 2151.76 million in 2020

due to lower borrowing rates in 2020. Interest on loans in 2019 was also lower because NTC capitalized interest
as part of the building cost during the construction period.

14



Interest income decreased by £11.86 million mainly because of lower interest rates.

Other income (loss) pertains to gain on sale of subsidiary, rental income, and recovery of provision for impairment.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS - Year 2019 vs. Year 2018
Financial Position

Total consolidated assets increased from £9.97 billion to 16.27 billion, or a 63% growth compared t02018. The
increase in total assets is due to additional development cost of the new Makati campus and the consolidation of
assets of the acquired companies into IPO and intangible assets recognized related to the merger with AEI.

Consolidated current assets increased to £2.32 billion in 2019 from £1.01 billion in 2018 primarily due to the
current assets of newly acquired subsidiary companies. The increase in cash and cash equivalents was because of
the cash and cash equivalents of the new subsidiaries.

Receivables pertain mainly to matriculation and miscellaneous fees due from students. The 198% increase in
receivable was mainly due to timing of start of classes and due to 534 million receivables of the new subsidiaries.
Prepaid expenses and other current assets went up from £82.32 million to 176 million mainly because of the P
18 million prepaid expenses and other current assets of the new subsidiaries.

Consolidated non-current assets grew by P4.99 billion or 56% higher mainly due to non-current assets of newly
acquired subsidiaries, development of new Makati campus and intangible assets recognized as a result of the
merger with AEL. All equity instruments were sold during the year. Other non-current assets went up from P
33.77 million to £110.28 million mainly because of the P49.61 million other non-current assets of the new
subsidiaries.

Total consolidated liabilities were higher by 84%, primarily because of additional loans acquired by the Group to
finance the on-going construction of the new MESI Makati Campus and liabilities of newly acquired subsidiaries.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses pertain largely to obligations to suppliers. Accounts payable and accrued
expense went up by 78% because of 1) payables to various suppliers relative to the on-going construction of the
new campus in Makati; 2) accrual of salaries and wages and interest on loans; 3) other payables coming from the
new subsidiaries such as management and professional fees, withholdings taxes, SSS and other contribution.

Payables to related parties pertain to services provided by the Group’s affiliates to support its operations and
oversee the on-going construction of school building in Makati.

Unearned income is higher from 2315 million in December 2018 to £781 million due to unamortized tuition fees
of Mapua schools and the new subsidiaries.

Total consolidated equity increased from £6.41 billion in December 2018 to £9.73 billion in 2019 due to the
issuance of 295.3 million shares to Ayala Education, Inc., net income for the year and other comprehensive income
related to the revaluation increment on land. Equity attributable to Parent is at 29.51 billion, from £6.00 billion in
December 2018.

Results of Operations

The Group posted a consolidated net income of £274.09 million, which is 16% higher than the £237.10 million
in 2018.

Compared t02018, the consolidated revenue and expenses of the Group went up generally with the higher number
of enrolled students, the start of school operations of MCM in July 2018 and revenue and expenses of new
subsidiaries.

The higher net income in 2019 is mainly attributed to better results of operations of MESI and MCL and net
income contributions of NTC and UNC. The Group started recognizing results of operations of APEC, NTC and
UNC in May 2, 2019, the merger’s effectivity date. MCM incurred higher net loss mainly due to significant
increase in interest expense for loans that partially financed the development of the MCM campus as well as
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higher depreciation charges. The result of future operations of MCM is expected to improve as it accepts more
students in the succeeding years of operation.

Revenue from school operations, which is the primary source of revenue of the Group went up by 66% at P3.00
billion from £1.81 billion in 2018. The increase in revenue was primarily due to normalization of freshmen
enrolment from K-12 program, improvement in MESI’s enrolment process, full year school operations of MCM
and revenues of subsidiaries acquired in May 2, 2019.

Cost of tuition and other fees went up by 59% or 761 million, while general and administrative expenses
increased by 92% or 231 million higher from same period 2018. The higher expenses in 2019 was primarily due
to additional costs related to second year of school operations of MCM and operating expenses of newly acquired
subsidiaries.

Interest expense and other finance charges increased from £36.03 million in 2018 to £129.34 million in 2019 due
to additional loans availed by the Group and because the of accretion of lease liability that is now required under
PFRS 16. Interest on loans in 2018 was also significantly lower because MCM capitalized interest as part of the
building cost during the construction period.

Interest income increased by £11.41 million from last year mainly because of higher interest rates.

Other income (loss) pertains to rental income, provision for impairment, foreign exchange gain, income from
investment in UITF.

Financial Ratios

Below are the financial ratios that are relevant to the Group for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Financial ratios 2021 2020

Current ratio Current Assets 1.40:1 1.16:1
Indicates the Group's ability to pay Current Liabilities
short-term obligation

Current Assets — Prepaid

Acid Test Ratio Expenses 1.22:1 1.04:1
Indicates the Group’s ability to use its Current Liabilities
quick or near cash assets to pay current
liabilities immediately

Solvency Ratio Net Income + Depreciation 0.22:1 0.14:1
Shows how likely a Group will be Total Liabilities
continue meeting its debt obligations

Debt-to-equity ratio Total Debt 0.46:1 0.51:1
Measures the Group's leverage Equity

Asset to Equity Ratio Total Assets 1.45:1 1.50:1
Shows how the company's leverage (debt)

was used to finance the firm Equity

Interest Rate Coverage EBIT 7.03:1 3.67:1

Shows how easily a company can pay
interest on outstanding debt

Interest Expense
Excluding Interest
Expense on Lease

Liabilities
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Return on Average Stockholders' Equity Net Income 6.14% 2.39%

Reflects how much the Group's has Average Equity
earned on the funds invested by the
stockholders
Net Profit Margin Net Profit Margin 19.81% 8.03%
Reflects how much net income or Revenue
profit is generated as percentage of
revenue
Return on Assets Net Income 4.12% 1.54%
Measure the ability to utilize the Group's Total Assets

assets to create profits

Current ratio provides the liquidity position of the business by comparing current assets to current liabilities.
The current ratio improved from 1.16:1 in 2020 to 1.40:1 in 2021, primarily due to higher current assets.
Consolidated current assets increased to P3.06 billion this year from P2.66 billion last year primarily due to the.

Acid test ratio slightly increased from 1.04:1 in 2020 to 1.22:1 in 2021 which is due to lower short-term loans.

Solvency ratio slightly increased from 0.14:1 in 2020 to 0.22:1 in 2021 mainly due to lower total liabilities of
the Group because of loan payments.

Debt-to-Equity ratio measures the Group’s leverage. The total debt-to-equity ratio of the Group is 0.46:1 for
2021 and 0.51:1 for 2020. This is because of lower liabilities of the Group. Total consolidated liabilities were
lower by 4%, primarily because of loan payments made by the Group.

Asset to Equity ratio decreased from 1.50:1 in 2020 to 1.45:1 in 2021 because of the decrease in asset base
relative to the sale of land.

Interest Rate Coverage shows the capability of a company to pay interest on outstanding debt. Due to higher
interest expense of the group, interest rate coverage ratio increased from 3.67:1 in 2020 to 7.03:1 in 2021
primarily due to higher income from operations.

Return on Average Stockholders’ Equity (ROAE) measures the profitability of the Company in relation to the
average stockholders’ equity. The ROAE for 2021 has increased to 6.1% from 2.4% in 2020 because of higher
net income during the period.

Net profit margin reflect how much net income or profit is generated as percentage of revenue. The net profit
margin increase in 2021, from 8.03% in 2020 to 19.81% this year due to higher income from operations.

Return on Assets measures the ability to utilize the Group’s assets to create profits. The Group’s return on assets
for year 2021 went up to 4.12%, from 1.54% in 2020.

The above-mentioned ratios are applicable to the Group as a whole.
Other qualitative and quantitative factors

(i) There are no known trends or any known demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will
result in or that are reasonably likely to result in iPeople’s liquidity increasing or decreasing in any
material way;

a. iPeople does not anticipate any cash flow or liquidity problems within the next twelve months;

b. iPeople is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing
arrangement which will require the Company to make payments;

c. There is no significant amount of trade payable that have not been paid within the stated
terms; and
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d. iPeople’s depends on services fees from subsidiaries, interest income and dividends from its
subsidiaries as its source of liquidity.

(ii) There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the
company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation;

(iii) There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons
created during the reporting period,

(iv) There are no material commitments for capital expenditures;

(v) There are no significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the iPeople’s continuing
operations;

(vi) The causes for any material change from period to period which shall include vertical and horizontal
analyses of any material item are discussed above;

(vii) There are no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of
operations.

Item 7 — Financial Statement and Supplementary Schedules

The 2021 audited consolidated financial statements of the Group are attached herein by reference. The schedules
listed in the accompanying Index to the Supplementary Schedules are filed as part of this Form 17-A.

Item 8 - Information on Independent Accountant and Other Related Matters

The Accounting firm of Sycip Gorres Velayo and Company (SGV & Co.), with office address at 6760 Ayala
Avenue, SGV Building, Makati City, Philippines, has been the Company’s Independent Auditors since the
Company’s incorporation, and has been recommended to serve as such for the current year.

Philippine Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 68, Part3 (b) (ix), Rotation of External Auditors, states that
the key audit partners, which include the engagement partner or signing partner, shall comply with the
provisions on long association of personnel (including partner rotation) with an audit client as prescribed in the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (the Code). The Code prescribes that an
individual shall not act in any of the engagement partner, engagement quality control reviewer, other key audit
partner role or a combination of such roles, for a period of more than seven cumulative years. The Company
engaged Ana Lea C. Bergado of SGV & Co. for the examination of the Company’s financial statements starting
2017.

The engagement of the external auditors was favorably endorsed by the Audit Committee to the Board of
Directors. The engagement is ultimately submitted for approval of the stockholders.

Disagreement with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
There was no event for the last 5 years where SGV & Co. had any disagreement with regard to any matter
relating to accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure.

Attendance of Accountants at the Meeting

Representatives of SGV & Co. are expected to be present at the annual stockholders meeting with the
opportunity to make any statement, if they so desire, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions on
the Company’s financial statements.
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External Audit Fees and Services
The Company has engaged SGV & Co. as the external auditor, and is tasked to conduct the financial audit of the
Company. For this service, SGV & Co. has billed the company the following amounts:

YEAR AUDIT FEE BILLING

2021 P4,337,000
2020 P4,245,500
2019 P4,285,500

The Company has not engaged SGV & Co. for any other services aside from its annual audit for the last five (5)
years.

Tax Fees
The Company has not engaged the services of the external auditor for tax accounting, compliance, advice,
planning and any other form of tax services.

All Other Fees

There are no other fees billed in each of the last two years for the products and services provided by the external
auditor, other than the services reported under the items mentioned above.
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PART III - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Item 9 — Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer

Board of Directors & Officers

The Company’s board of directors is composed of nine (9) members elected by and from among the Company’s
stockholders. The board is responsible for providing overall management and direction of the Company. Board
meetings are held on a regular basis or as often as required to discuss the Company’s operations, business
strategy, policies and other corporate matters. A brief background on each member of the board is provided:

DIRECTORS

Name Position Length of Service
Dr. Reynaldo B. Vea ** President 7 years

Mr. Lorenzo V. Tan Director 4 years

Mr. Medel T. Nera Director 11 years

Ms. Yvonne S. Yuchengco Director 21 years

Mr. Gerardo C. Ablaza Director 3 years

Mr. Alfredo Antonio I. Ayala *** Director 3 years

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

Name Position Length of Service
Mr. Renato C. Valencia * Chairman 17 years

Mr. Cesar A. Buenaventura, OBE Director 31 years

Ms. Herminia S. Jacinto Director 3 years

Name Position

Dr. Reynaldo B. Vea **

President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Alfredo Antonio I. Ayala ***

Chief Operating Officer

Ms. Gema O. Cheng

EVP and Chief Finance Officer

Mr. Alexander Anthony G. Galang Chief Audit Executive
Ms. Shirley Q. Earnhart Treasurer
Dr. Ruth C. Francisco Chief Risk Officer

Ms. Pamela Q. Wu

Chief Human Resource Officer

Mr. Danilo R. Tiongco

Chief Information Officer

Mr. Victor V. Rafael

VP-Finance and Investor Relations

Mr. Jonathan M. Lopez

Controller

Atty. Denise Jordan P. Arenillo

Legal and Compliance Officer

Atty. Samuel V. Torres

Corporate Secretary

Atty. Ma. Elvira Bernadette C. Garcia-Gonzalez

Assistant Corporate Secretary

Position and Background within the last 5 years

RENATO C. VALENCIA*, 80, Filipino, has been the Chairman of the Board and Independent Director
since 2005. He is also the Chairman of Omnipay, Inc.; Lead Independent Director, GT Capital Holdings, Inc.;
Independent Director, EEI Corporation, Malayan Insurance Co., Inc., and Anglo Philippine Holdings Corp.;
Member, Management Association of the Philippines and Financial Executives Institute of the Philippines. His
past experiences include President & CEO of Social Security System (SSS), and Roxas Holdings, Inc.;
Chairman & CEO, Union Bank of the Philippines; Independent Director, House of Investments, Inc. and
Metropolitan Bank and Trust Co.; Educational Background: Master of Business Management from Asian
Institute of Management, Philippines; Bachelor of Science in General Engineering from Philippine Military
Academy.

* Resigned as Chairman as of January 31, 2022; Appointed as Lead Independent Director, effective February 01, 2022
Elected as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, effective February 01, 2022
Elected as President and Chief Operating Officer, effective February 01, 2022
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REYNALDO B. VEA **, PhD, 70, Filipino, is a Director, President and Chief Executive Officer since 2015.
He is also the President & CEO of Malayan Education System, Inc. (operating under the name Mapua
University); Director and President of Malayan High School of Science, Inc., and Mapua Techserv; Director of
Malayan Colleges Laguna, (A Mapta School), Inc., Malayan Colleges Mindanao (A Mapua School), Inc.;
Trustee of AY Foundation, Yuchengco Center of De La Salle University, and Yuchengco Museum; Director of
Maibarara Geothermal, Inc., and Petrogreen, Inc., Chairman of the Philippine Science High School Foundation,
Inc., Engineering Science and Technology Division of the National Academy of Science and Technology,
Philippine Qualifications Framework - National Referencing Committee (PQF-NRC), and the CHED-NZQA
Technical Working Group on the Comparative Analysis of New Zealand's and the Philippines' Bachelor's Degrees
His past experiences include: President of Malayan Colleges Laguna, (4 Maptia School), Inc. and Malayan
Colleges Mindanao (4 Mapua School), Inc., Director of House of Investments, Inc., Grepalife Dollar Bond Fund,
Grepalife Fixed Income Fund, National Research Council of the Philippines, PetroWind, Inc., and Rizal
Commercial Banking Corporation; Member of Philippine Fulbright Commission and UNESCO National
Commission; Trustee of Philippine Association Colleges and University; Chairman of Committee on Science
and Technology in UNESCO National Commission; Dean of UP College of Engineering. Educational
Background: Ph.D. in Engineering from University of California, Berkley, USA; Master in Naval Architecture
and Marine Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA; and Bachelor of Science in
Mechanical Engineering (magna cum laude) from University of the Philippines.

LORENZO V. TAN, 60, Filipino, was elected as Director on January, 2018. He is currently a Director and
the President and Chief Executive Officer of House of Investments, Inc., RCBC Realty Corporation and San
Lorenzo Ruiz Investment Holdings and Services, Inc; Vice Chairman of Pan Malayan Management Inc. and
TOYM Foundation; Director at EEI Corp., Malayan Insurance Company Inc., Smart Communications, Digitel
Telecommunications, Sunlife Grepa Financial, Inc., Manila Memorial Park Cemetery Inc., PetroEnergy
Corporation, Hi-Eisai Pharmaceutical Inc., Honda Cars Philippines and Isuzu Manila, Inc.; Member of the Board
of Trustees at De La Salle Zobel; and, Member of the Advisory Board of Alphaland Development Corporation.
His past experiences include: Managing Director of Primeiro Partners; Director, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation; President and Chief Executive Officer of Sun
Life of Canada (Phils.), Inc., Philippine National Bank and United Coconut Planters Bank; Chairman of Asian
Bankers Association from 2012 to 2014; President of Bankers Association of the Philippines (BAP) from 2013
to March 14, 2016. As BAP President, he led the Association in representing the BAP in the ASEAN Bankers
Association (ABA), composed of the national banking associations from the 10-member countries in the
Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN). Educational Background: Certified Public Accountant in
Pennsylvania, USA and in the Philippines. Mr. Tan graduated from De La Salle University with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Accounting and Commerce, and holds a Master in Management degree from the J.L. Kellogg
Graduate School of Management, Northwestern University.

ALFREDO ANTONIO I. AYALA ***, 61, Filipino, was elected as Director and Chief Operating Officer on
May 06,2019. He is also a Managing Director and member of the Management Committee of Ayala Corporation.
He currently serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of National Teachers College and Livelt
Investment Ltd., Ayala Corporation’s holding company for its business process outsourcing investments. He is
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Affordable Private Education Center, Inc., National Teachers
College, Linc Institute, and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of University of Nueva Caceres; Director of
Affinity Express, Malayan Education System, Inc. (operating under the name Mapua University), Malayan
Colleges Laguna, Malayan Colleges Mindanao, Malayan High School of Science; Co-Chairman of IBPAP
Human Capital and Impact of Technology Technical Working Group; and a Trustee of Philippine Business for
Education (PBEd) and Ayala Foundation, Inc. Mr. Ayala is also a Member of PBEd’s National Industry Academe
Council and Brown University’s Humanitarian Innovation Initiative’s Global Advisory Board. His past
experiences include: President and Chief Executive Officer of AC Education, Inc.; Vice-Chairman of the
Board of Trustees of University of Nueva Caceres; Educational background: Mr. Ayala holds an MBA from
Harvard University and a BA in Development Studies (Honors) and Economics from Brown University.

* Elected as Chairman and Chief Executive Olfficer, effective February 01, 2022
Elected as President and Chief Operating Officer, effective February 01, 2022
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CESAR A. BUENAVENTURA, OBE, 92, Filipino is an Independent Director since 1991 to present. He is
also Chairman of Buenaventura Echauz and Partners, Inc., Mitsubishi Hitachi Power Systems (Phils.), and Via
Technik Inc.; Vice Chairman of DMCI Holdings, Inc.; Independent Director of Manila Water Company, Inc.,
Concepcion Industrial Corp., Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corp., International Container Terminal Services Inc., and
PetroEnergy Resources Corp.; Director of DM Consunji, Inc., Semirara Mining and Power Corp., The Country
Club, Cavitex Holdings, Inc.; Founding Chairman of Pilipinas Shell Foundation Inc.; Trustee of Bloomberry
Cultural Foundation and ICTSI Foundation; Founding Member of Board of Trustees of Makati Business Club.
His past experiences include: Chairman of AG & P Co. of Manila, Asian Bank, Ayala Corp., Benguet Corp.,
First Philippine Holdings Corp., Ma. Cristina Chemical Industries, Maibarara Geothermal Inc., Manila
International Airport Authority, Paysetter International Inc., Philippine Airlines, Philippine American Life
Insurance Co., Philippine National Bank; President of Benigno S. Aquino Foundation; Member of the Monetary
Board of Central Bank of the Philippines, U.P. Board of Regents, and the Board of Trustees of Asian Institute of
Management Educational Background: Master of Civil Engineering Major in Structures from Lehigh University,
USA; Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering from University of the Philippines.

MEDEL T. NERA, 66, Filipino, is a Director since 2011 to present. He is also a Director of House of
Investments, Inc., EEI Corp., Seafront Resources Corp., National Reinsurance Corporation, Holcim Philippines,
Inc., Ionics, Inc. and the Generika Pharmaceutical Group of companies. His past experiences include President
& CEO of House of Investments, Inc.; President of Honda Cars Kalookan, Inc., Director and President of
RCBC Realty Corp.; Director and Chairman of the Risk Oversight Committee of Rizal Commercial Banking
Corp.; Director and Treasurer of CRIBS Foundation, Inc., and Senior Partner at Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co.
Educational Background: Master in Business Administration from Stern School of Business, New York
University, New York, USA, Bachelor of Science in Commerce from Far Eastern University, Manila, Philippines,
International Management Program from Manchester Business School, Manchester, United Kingdom, and the
Pacific Rim Bankers Program from University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA.

YVONNE S. YUCHENGCO, 68, Filipino is a Director since 2001 to present. She is also the Chairperson and
Director of RCBC Capital Corp. and XYZ Assets Corp.; Chairperson and President of Royal Commons, Inc.,
Y Tower II Office Condominium Corp. and Yuchengco Tower Office Condominium Corp.; Chairperson and
Trustee of The Malayan Plaza Condominium Owners Association Inc. and Yuchengco Museum, Inc.; Director,
Chairman and President of Philippine Integrated Advertising Agency, Inc.; Director and Chairman of Y
Realty Corp.; Director and Vice Chairperson of Malayan Insurance Co., Inc. and National Reinsurance Corp.
of the Phils.; Director and President of Alto Pacific Corp.; MICO Equities, Inc., and RCBC Land, Inc.; Director
of Annabelle Y. Holdings and Management Corp., Asia-Pac Reinsurance Co., Ltd., A.T. Yuchengco, Inc., DS
Realty, Inc., Enrique T. Yuchengco, Inc., GPL Holdings, Inc., House of Investments, Inc., HY Dee Management
& Resource Corp., La Funenaria Paz Sucat, Inc., Luisita Industrial Park Corp., Malayan Education System, Inc.
(operating under the name Mapua University), Malayan International Insurance Corp., Manila Memorial Park
Cemetery, Inc., Pan Malayan Express, Inc., Pan Malayan Realty Corp., RCBC Capital Corp., Seafront Resources
Corp., Shayamala Corp., YGC Corporate Services, Inc., and Yuchengco Center, Inc.; Director and Vice
President of A.Y. Holdings, Inc. Director, Vice President and Treasurer of Pan Managers, Inc.; Director and
Corporate Secretary of MPC Investment Corp., Director and Treasurer of Honda Cars Kalookan, Inc.,
Malayan High School of Science, Inc., Mona Lisa Development Corp., Petro Energy Resources Corp. and Water
Dragon, Inc.,; Director, Treasurer and CFO of Pan Malayan Management & Investment Corp.; Trustee of AY
Foundation, Inc., Phil-Asia Assistance Foundation, Inc., and Avignon Tower Condominium Corporation;
Advisory Member of Rizal Commercial Banking Corp. Educational Background: Bachelor of Arts in
Interdisciplinary Studies from Ateneo De Manila University, Philippines.

GERARDO C. ABLAZA, JR., 68, Filipino, was elected as Director on May 06, 2019. He is also Director of
Advanced Info Services, PLC (Thailand), Roxas and Company, Inc., AC Healthcare Holdings, Inc., AC Energy
and Infrastructure Corporation (formerly AC Energy, Inc.), Ayala Retirement Fund Holdings, Inc., and Member
of the Board of Trustees of Ayala Foundation, Inc. His past experiences include: President and Chief
Executive Officer of Manila Water Company, Inc. and Globe Telecom, Inc.; Member of the Board of Trustees
of De La Salle University-Manila, De La Salle University-Dasmarifias, and De La Salle Medical and Health
Sciences Institute. Educational Background: Graduated Summa Cum Laude from De La Salle University in 1974
with a degree in Liberal Arts, Major in Mathematics (Honors Program).

HERMINIA S. JACINTO, 82, Filipino, was clected as Independent Director on May 06, 2019. She is a
Certified Public Accountant and currently the President of insurance Institute for Asia and the Pacific (IIAP).
She is an Independent Director of BDO Life Assurance Co. and Fortune Guarantee Assurance Corporation and
a Trustee of IIAP. She previously served as President of Universal Malayan Reinsurance Corporation and
Universal Reinsurance Corporation. She was also Secretary General of the Association of Insurers and
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Reinsurers of Developing Countries. She is well-known in the world reinsurance market especially in the
ASEAN/Asian region.

Executive Officers:

GEMA O. CHENG, 57, Filipino, is the Executive Vice President — Chief Finance Officer of the Company.
She also holds the following positions within the Group: Executive Vice President - Chief Operating Officer,
Chief Finance Officer, and Treasurer of House of Investments, Inc.; Chairman and President of Investment
Managers, Inc.; Director, Executive Vice President and Treasurer of Landev Corporation; Executive Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer of San Lorenzo Ruiz Investment Holdings and Services, Inc.; and serves
as Director of the following: Malayan Colleges Laguna, Inc. (a Mapua School), Malayan Colleges Mindanao (a
Mapua School), La Funeraria Paz-Sucat, Inc. and Manila Memorial Park Cemetery, Inc. Her past experiences
include: Senior Vice President of SM Investments Corp., with concurrent Chief Finance Officer roles in various
SM property companies including as Treasury Head of SM Prime. She was also Chief Finance Officer of
Malayan Group of Insurance Companies. Educational Background: Bachelor of Arts in Economics (Magna Cum
Laude) from the University of the Philippines-Diliman, Philippines; Certificate of Special Studies in
Administration and Management from Harvard University, USA.

SHIRLEY Q. EARNHART, 49, Filipino, was appointed as Treasurer on May 06, 2019. She is a Certified
Treasury Professional and, prior to her appointment to iPeople, inc., was a Senior Manager and Head of
Liquidity and Investment Management, Origination with Ayala Corporation with twenty-six years of trading
experience in money market, foreign exchange, equities and capital markets. Her past experiences include: Head
of Liquidity and Foreign Exchange Department of Banco de Oro Universal Bank; Head of Liquidity/Foreign
Exchange and Bonds Unit (USD and Multi-currency) of Dao Heng Bank, Inc. (Manila and Hong Kong
Branches). Educational Background: Master of Science in Computational Finance, De La Salle University-
Manila; Bachelor of Science in Commerce, Major in Management of Financial Institutions, De La Salle
University-Manila, Philippines.

ALEXANDER ANTHONY G. GALANG, 61, Filipino, was appointed as Chief Audit Executive on May 06,
2019. He is also the Senior Vice President for Internal Audit of House of Investments, Inc., the parent company
of iPeople, inc. His past experiences include: Vice President for Audit & Special Projects of Anglo Asian
Strategic Management Inc.; President of Avrion Systems Inc.; Deputy Managing Director of Cala Paniman,
Inc.; Treasury Head of Anglo Asian Holdings Corporation; Regional Auditor for Asia and Pacific of Triumph
International, Inc.; Finance Head of Triumph International Vietnam, Inc.; Senior International Corporate
Auditor of International Semi-Tech Microelectronics, Inc., then parent company of Singer Sewing Machine Co.
USA.; Internal Audit Manager of Honda Philippines, Inc., Finance Comptroller of Midas Touch Foods Corp,
et. al.; Senior Auditor at SGV and Co. CPAs.; Ex-Member, Board of Trustees of the Association of Certified
Fraud Examiners (ACFE) - Philippine Chapter. He is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) having placed 12th in
the 1981 licensure exams. He has a Global Certification as a Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE) and a Certification
in Risk Management Assurance (CRMA). Educational Background: Bachelor of Science in Business
Administration Major in Accounting (Cum Laude), University of Sto. Tomas. He also completed the Professional
Manager Program at Ateneo Graduate School of Business.

DR. RUTH C. FRANCISCO, 58, Filipino, was appointed as Chief Risk Officer on July 16, 2021. She is also
Senior Vice President-Chief Risk Officer of House of Investments, Inc., the parent company of iPeople, inc.,
and Director at San Lorenzo Ruiz Investment Holdings and Services, Inc. Her past experiences include: Chief
Finance Officer of Malayan Education System, Inc. (operating under the name of Mapua University); Treasurer
for Malayan Colleges Foundation, Inc., Malayan Colleges Mindanao (A Mapua School), Inc., and MIT Retirement
Fund, Inc. Educational Background: Doctor of Business Administration, Colegio de San Juan de Letran; Master
of Business Administration, Philippine Christian University; Bachelor of Science in Commerce, Major in
Accounting, Manuel L. Quezon University.

DANILO R. TIONGCO, 52, Filipino, was appointed as Chief Information Officer on May 06, 2019. He is
also the L.T. Head of Malayan Colleges Mindanao since June 2017. His past experiences include: Integrated
Management System Representative of Mapua University, IT Director of the Development Office for
Information Technology (DOIT) of Mapua University, and Enrollment Czar of Mapua University. Educational
Background: Bachelor of Science in Computer Engineering, Mapua University (formerly Mapua Institute of
Technology)
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VICTOR V. RAFAEL, 48, Filipino, was appointed Vice President for Finance and Investor Relations on
May 06, 2019. Prior to his appointment, he was Senior Manager for Financial Planning & Analysis (FP&A) with
the House of Investments, Inc. since 2017. His past experiences include: Assistant Vice President for FP&A
and Treasury at Prime Orion Philippines, Inc (POPI). Prior to that, he held several positions in POPI including
Corporate Planning Manager and Treasury Manager. Educational Background: Bachelor of Science in
Business Administration, University of the Philippines-Diliman.

JONATHAN M. LOPEZ, 48, Filipino, was appointed as Controller on May 06, 2019. Prior to joining iPeople,
inc., he was the Controller of Malayan Education System, Inc. (operating under the name Mapua University).
His past experiences include: Finance Director of TVI Resource Development, Inc. from 2010 to 2014.
Educational Background: Bachelor in Accountancy, Polytechnic University of the Philippines. He is a Certified
Public Accountant.

DENISE JORDAN P. ARENILLO, 43, Filipino, was appointed as Legal and Compliance Officer on May 06,
2019. She is also the Vice President for Legal Affairs of Malayan Education System, Inc. (operating under the
name Mapua University) and the Corporate Secretary of Mapua TechServ, Inc. and Mapua TechPower, Inc.Her
past experiences include: Senior Associate at Fortun Narvasa and Salazar Law Offices with expertise in
Corporate, Labor and Family Law. Educational Background: Juris Doctor, Ateneo De Manila University School
of Law; Bachelor of Science in Management, Major in Legal Management, Atenco De Manila University,
Philippines.

PAMELA Q. WU, 50, Taiwanese, was appointed as Chief Human Resources Officer on May 06, 2019. She
has served as the Chief Human Resources Officer of AC Education, Inc. since 2013. Her past experiences
include: Vice President of Human Resources (Philippines and China) of Stream Global Services from 2010 to
2012, Vice President of Human Resources of eTelecare Global Solutions, Philippine from 2005 to 2009.
Educational Background: Bachelor of Science in Psychology, Ateneo de Manila University, Philippines;
Certificate of Business Administration from Washington State University.

SAMUEL V. TORRES, 56, Filipino, is the Corporate Secretary. His other present positions include: General
Counsel & Corporate Secretary of Pan Malayan Management & Investment Corporation and Corporate
Secretary of A. T. Yuchengco, Inc., A Y Foundation, Inc., A.Y. Holdings, Inc., Bankers Assurance Corp.,
Bluehounds Security and Investigation Agency, Inc., Luisita Industrial Park Corp., RCBC Bankard Services, Inc.,
Enrique T. Yuchengco, Inc. Investment Managers, Inc., Sun Life Grepa Financial, Inc., Grepaland, Inc., Grepa
Realty Holdings Corporation, PetroEnergy Resources Corp., Seafront Resources Corp., GPL Cebu Tower Office
Condominium Corp., Hexagon Integrated Financial & Insurance Agency, Inc., Hexagon Lounge, Inc., House of
Investments, Inc., RCBC Land, Inc., RCBC Forex Brokers Corp., RCBC Realty Corp., RCBC Securities, Inc.,
RCBC Capital Corporation, Malayan High School of Science, Inc., Malayan Education System, Inc., Malayan
Colleges Mindanao (A Mapua School), Inc., Malayan Colleges Foundation, Inc., Malayan Information
Technology Center, Inc., Malayan Colleges Laguna, Inc. (A Mapua School), Affordable Private Education, Inc.
doing business under the name of APEC SCHOOLS, AC College of Enterprise and Technology, Inc., Linc
Institute, Inc., GPL Holdings Inc., Pan Pacific Computer Center, Inc., Honda Cars Kalookan, Inc., Hi-Eisai
Pharmaceutical, Inc., People eServe Corp., La Funeraria Paz Sucat, Inc., Landev Corp., Pan Malayan Express,
Inc., Pan Malayan Realty Corp., Philippine Advertising Agency, Inc., First Nationwide Assurance Corp., Malayan
Insurance Co., Inc., MICO Equities, Inc., and Tokio Marine Malayan Insurance Corp. His past experiences
include: International Counsel of South Pacific for Federal Express Corp. Educational Background: Bachelor
of Laws, Ateneo De Manila University School of Law; Bachelor of Science in Business Economics, University
of the Philippines.

MA. ELVIRA BERNADETTE C. GARCIA-GONZALEZ, 44, Filipino, is the Assistant Corporate
Secretary. She is also the Assistant General Counsel of Pan Malayan Management & Investment Corporation
and Corporate Secretary of Blackhounds Security and Investigation Agency, Inc. and the Assistant Corporate
Secretary of House of Investments, Inc., Malayan Colleges Mindanao (A Mapua School), Inc., Affordable Private
Education, Inc. doing business under the name of APEC SCHOOLS, AC College of Enterprise and Technology,
Inc., Linc Institute, Inc., Yuchengco Tower Office Condominium Corp., Y Tower II Office Condominium Corp.,
and GPL Holdings, Inc. Her past experiences include: Legal Counsel and Assistant Corporate Secretary of
Coca-Cola Bottlers Philippines, Inc.; Assistant Corporate Secretary of Philippine Bottlers, Inc. and Luzviminda
Land Holdings, Inc. Educational Background: Juris Doctor, Ateneo De Manila University School of Law;
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science, Ateneo De Manila University, Philippines.
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RESIGNATION OF DIRECTORS
To date, no other director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election for the Board of Directors due to any
disagreement with the Corporation relative to the Corporation’s operations, policies and practices.

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The Directors of iPeople are elected at the annual stockholders’ meeting to hold office until the next succeeding
annual meeting or until their respective successors have been elected and qualified.

APPOINTMENT AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS

Officers are appointed or elected annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, each to hold office until the corresponding meeting of the Board of Directors in the
next year or until a successor shall have been elected, appointed or shall have qualified.

SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEE
There is no person who is not an executive officer that is expected by the issuer to make a significant
contribution to the business.

FAMILY RELATIONS
There are no family relations among directors and officers.

INVOLVEMENT IN CERTAIN LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The Company is not aware of the following events during the past 5 years up to March 31, 2022:

(a) any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which any of its director or executive officers was
a general partner or executive officer either at the time of bankruptcy or within two (2) years prior to that time.

(b) any conviction by final judgment of any director or senior executive in a criminal proceeding domestic
or foreign or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding domestic or foreign, of any director,
executive officer or person nominated to be a director

(c) any director or senior executive being subject to any order, judgment or decree not subsequently reversed
suspended or vacated of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign permanently or
temporarily enjoining barring, suspending or otherwise limiting such directors’ or executive officer’s
involvement in any type of business securities, commodities or banking activities

(d) any executive officer or director found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction, the
Commission or other foreign body or a domestic or foreign Exchange or other organized trading market
or self-regulatory organization to have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation and the judgment
has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated.
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Item 10 — Executive Compensation

OTHER ANNUAL
COMPENSATION

NAME AND POSITION

YEAR SALARY BONUS

Top 5 executives of the Company 2021 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
2020 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
2019 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

All other officers and directors as group 2021 £0.00 £0.00 P991,429
2020 £0.00 £0.00 P£981,429
2019 £0.00 £0.00 P£1,063,571

TOTALS 2021 £0.00 £0.00 P991,429
2020 £0.00 £0.00 P981,429
2019 £0.00 £0.00 P£1,063,571

The table states the aggregate compensation of all directors as a group.

The Company does not pay any salary or bonus to any of its executive officers as there are no employment
contracts with executive officers. Other annual compensation pertains to per diem allowances given to Directors
as discussed below:

There are no other arrangements pursuant to which any director of the Company was compensated, or is to be
compensated, directly or indirectly, other than those stated on the above table during the Company’s last
completed fiscal year, and the ensuing year, for any service provided as an executive officer or member of the
Board of Directors.

There is no director, executive officer, nominee for director, beneficial holder and family members involved in
any business transaction of the Company.

Item 11 — Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Owners of more than 5% of voting securities as of March 31, 2022
The following table shows the beneficial owners directly or indirectly owning more than 5% of the Company’s
capital stock as of March 31, 2022:

NAME OF BENEFICIAL NUMBER OF

NAMLANDABDRESSOF  OWNERLRELATIONII e, SIARES
OWNED
Common HOUSE OF Ms. Helen Y. Dee Filipino 503,098,749 ! 48.18%
INVESTMENTS, INC. Chairperson is authorized to
Grepalife Bldg., Sen. Gil Puyat | direct voting of the shares
Ave., Makati City Metro Manila | held by House of Investments
Principal Stockholder
Common AYALA CORPORATION Jaime Augusto Zobel de Filipino 349,829,961 33.50%
34F Tower One and Exchange | Ayala (Chairman) and
Plaza, Ayala Triangle, Ayala Fernando Zobel de
Avenue, Makati City Ayala (President and Chief
ya
Executive Officer) are
authorized to direct voting of
the shares held by Ayala Corp.
Common A. SORIANO CORP. Mr. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng Filipino 92,945,934 2 8.90%
7F Pacific Star Bldg., Makati EVP and CFO is authorized to
Ave., cor. Sen. Gil J. Puyat direct voting of the shares
Ext., Makati City held by A. Soriano Corp.

There are no arrangements that may result in change in control.

1 Direct and indirect holdings of House of Investments, Inc.

2 Direct and indirect holdings A. Soriano Corp.
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Security Ownership of Management
Securities beneficially owned by the directors, nominees, officers, other than qualifying shares, as of March 31,

2022 according to the records of its stock and transfer agent, Rizal Commercial Banking Corp. (RCBC):

NAME OF

BENEFICIAL

CITIZENSHIP

NATURE OF
OWNERSHIP

SHARES
OWNED

OWNER

Common | Renato C. Valencia Filipino Indirect 1,300 0.0001%
Common | Cesar A. Buenaventura Filipino Indirect 68,850 0.0066%
Common | Gerardo C. Ablaza Filipino Direct 5 0.0000%
Common | Reynaldo B. Vea Filipino Direct 5 0.0000%
Common | Alfredo Antonio I. Ayala Filipino Direct 5 0.0000%
Common | Lorenzo V. Tan Filipino Direct 5 0.0000%
Common | Herminia S. Jacinto Director Direct 5 0.0000%
Common | Medel T. Nera Filipino Direct 100 0.0000%
Common | Yvonne S. Yuchengco Filipino Direct 6,500 0.0006%

Indirect 92,000 0.0088%
Sub-Total 168,775 0.0162%
Total Common Shares 1,044,263,197 100.0000%

Item 12 — Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

There is no director, executive officer, nominee for director, beneficial holder, or any family member involved

in any business transaction with iPeople.

In the normal conduct of business, aside from transactions disclosed in audited financial statements, other

transactions with certain affiliates include sharing in general and administrative expenses and cash advances.
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PART IV - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Item 13 — Corporate Governance

()

(b)

(©)

(@

Evaluation System to Measure Compliance with the Manual on Corporate Governance

The Company has monitored its compliance with Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Memorandum
Circulars, pursuant to its Manual on Corporate Governance, has complied with the leading practices and
principles on good corporate governance and appropriate self-rating assessment and performance evaluation
to determine and measure its compliance.

In compliance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 20 dated December 8, 2016, the Company has submitted
its Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IACGR), for the period covering the year 2020, last
May 26, 2021, within the period allowed by the SEC. For the period covering the year 2021, the Company
will submit its IACGR on or before May 30, 2022.

Measures Undertaken to Fully Comply with Leading Practices on Corporate Governance

In its IACGR, the Company has substantially complied with of the provisions and recommendations in the
New Manual on Corporate Governance.

Deviation from the Manual on Corporate Governance

Except for a few recommendations in the Manual on Corporate Governance which the Company failed to
comply (based on the “comply or explain” policy of SEC), the Company committed to comply with the same
in 2021. Said compliance will be reflected in the 2021 TACGR due on May 30, 2022.

Plans to Improve Corporate Governance

In order to improve the Company’s adherence to the leading practices in good corporate governance as
reflected in its Manual on Corporate Governance, the Company’s Directors and top Management
continuously attend the annual seminar on Corporate Governance conducted by an entity accredited with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Further, the Company continuously monitors all relevant PSE and
SEC Circulars on Corporate Governance that maybe used to improve compliance with the Manual on
Corporate Governance.
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PART V - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES
Item 14 - Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C

March 16, 2020
e COVID-19 risks, impact, and mitigation efforts in iPeople, inc, pursuant to the Notice dated
12 March 2020 of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

March 27, 2020
e Declaration of a Php 0.070143 per common share cash dividend, for a total amount of PhP
73,247,775.50 from the Company’s unrestricted retained earnings as of December 31, 2019, to
all stockholders of record as of April 14, 2020. Payment date is on May 08, 2020.
e Approval of date of Annual Stockholders” Meeting.

April 6, 2020
e Request for an extension until 30 June 2020 to submit the 2019 Annual Report (SEC Form 17-
A) of the Corporation.

April 15,2020
e Postponement of the Company’s Annual Stockholders' Meeting to August 11, 2020, instead of
June 26, 2020.

April 28, 2020
e  Further to the company’s declaration of a Php 0.070143 per common share cash dividend, the
May 08, 2020 payment date for the cash dividends remains unchanged. However, the
declaration of President Rodrigo R. Duterte to extend the enhanced community quarantine
(ECQ) up to May 15, 2020 within key areas in Luzon including Metro Manila, in order to
contain the spread of the COVID-19 virus, will result to further temporary business and work
suspension of nonessential services, including the delivery services of the Company.

May 7, 2020
e Request for an extension until 30 June 2020 to submit the Quarterly Report (SEC Form 17-Q)
of the Corporation.

May 22,2020
e Approval of First Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17Q).
e Approval of 2019 audited consolidated financial statements of iPeople and its subsidiaries.
e Approval of 2019 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (I-ACGR).

July 3, 2020
e Approval of the Date of the Company's Annual Stockholders' Meeting for 2020.

August 11, 2020
e Approval of Second Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17Q).
Approval of 2019 audited consolidated financial statements of iPeople and its subsidiaries.
Election of the Board of Directors of the Company for 2020-2021.
e Re-appointment of SGV & Co. as external auditors for the fiscal year ending 2020.

November 6, 2020
e Reporting the changes in shareholdings of Ms. Yvonne S. Yuchengco, Director of the
Company.

29



November 9, 2020
e Approval of Third Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17Q) of iPeople, inc.

April 8, 2021

e Confirmation of the Approval of Audit Committee of the 2020 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of iPeople, inc. and its Subsidiaries.
Declaration of a Php 0.06 per common share cash dividend, or a total amount of Php
62,655,791.82 from the Company’s unrestricted retained earnings as of December 31, 2020,
to all stockholders of record as of May 7, 2021. Payment date is on or before May 31, 2021.
Approval of the 2020 Sustainability Report of iPeople, inc.
Postponement of the Company’s Annual Stockholders' Meeting to July 30, 2021, instead of
June 25, 2021.
e Approval of the date of Annual Stockholders Meeting.
e Amendments to Sections 1, 6 to 13 of Article III of iPeople, inc.'s By-Laws

May 14, 2021
e Approval of the 2020 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IAGCR) of iPeople,
inc.
e Confirmation of the Approval of Audit Committee of the First Quarter Consolidation Report
(SEC 17Q) of iPeople, inc.Approval of the Company’s Material Related Party Transactions
Policy, in compliance to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10 Series of 2019.

May 27, 2021
e Resignation of Mr. Edgardo R. Grau as Chief Risk Officer.

June 1, 2021
e Appointment of Ms. Ruth C. Francisco as Chief Risk Officer.

July 30, 2021
e Approval of Second Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17Q).
e Approval of 2020 audited consolidated financial statements of iPeople and its subsidiaries.
e Election of the Board of Directors of the Company for 2021-2022.
e Re-appointment of SGV & Co. as external auditors for the fiscal year ending 2022.

November 12, 2021
e Approval of Third Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17Q).
e Declaration of a Php 0.23940325 per common share special cash dividend, for a total amount
of Php 250,000,000.00, to all stockholders of record as of November 29, 2021, and payable on
or before December 22, 2021.

November 17, 2021
e Receipt of SEC approval for the amendments to Sections 1, 6 to 13 of Article III of iPeople,
inc.'s By-Laws which had been approved by the Board of Directors on April 8, 2021

January 31, 2022
e Resignation of Mr. Renato C. Valencia as Chairman of iPeople, inc.

April 04, 2022
e Confirmation of the Approval of Audit Committee of the 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements of iPeople, inc. and its Subsidiaries.
e Declaration of a Cash Dividend of Php 0.16 per common share, or a total amount of Php
167,082,218.00 from the Company’s unrestricted retained earnings as of December 31, 2021,
to all stockholders of record as of April 29, 2022. Payment date is on or before May 20, 2022.

30



Approval of the 2021 Sustainability Report of iPeople, inc.

Approval of the 2021 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IACGR) of iPeople,
inc.

Approval of the Date of Annual Stockholders Meeting
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Securities Regulotion Code und the Revised
Corporation Code, this report is signed on behalf of the issuer by the undersigned, thereto duly

authorized, in the City of Makati on

, 2022,

N WITHESS WHEREOQFE, we have hereunio affived our signatores and the seal of the
Corporation this day of April, 2022 at Makati City.

Biv:

DR. REYMALDD B. VEA
Chairman and Chiefl Executive Officer
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INDEPENMDENT AUIMTOR'S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
1People, me.

3rd Floor, Grepalife Building

219 Sen. Cal J. Puyat Avenoe

Malkati City

Oipinion

We hove audited the comsohdated fnuncial statements of iPeople, e amd its subsidiaries (the Group), which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the
conzolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated smtements of changes in equily and
consolidated staternents of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and
notes 1o the consolidated financial statements, including & summary of significant accounting policies,

In pur apinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated finncial position of the Group as ot December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its consolidated Gnancial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021
in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audiis inaccordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (P5As), Our responsibilities
under those standords nre further deseribed in the dwditor's Responsibilities for te Awdit of the Consolidated
Fimancial Statesents section of our report, W are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountinis in the Philippines {the Code of Ethics) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our sudit of the conselidated financial statements in the Philippines, and we
huve fulfilled our other ethicyl responsthilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.
We belicve that the audit evidence we have obtnined is sufficient and appropriste to provide a basis for our
opiniodn,

Kev Audit Matters

Key awhit matters are those matters that, i our professional judgment, were of mast significance m our audit
of the consalidgated financial sttements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated fimancial statements as a whole, and in forming our apinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below. our description of how our audit
addressad the matter is provided in that contexi.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor s Responsibifities for the Auwdit of the
Comsoligaled Finoancial Slatements section of our report, includimg in relation to these matters. Accordimgly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond 1o our assessment of the risks of
muterial misstatement of the conzolidated financial sttements.  The results of our audit procedures, meleding
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidaied financial stalements.
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Falwarion of Land

The Group aceounis for its lamd, where the school butldings and other facilities are located, using the
revaluation model, As at December 31, 2021, the carrving value of the Group's land amounted to

P6 460,84 million, representing 40% of the Group's (otal asseis. The determination of the fair valwes of these
properiics invelves signilicant management judgment and estimations. The valuabion also requires the
assistance of external appraisers whaose calculations imvolve cenain assumptions, such as sales price of similar
propertics and adjustments to sales price based on intermal and external factors. Thus, we considered the
valuation of land as a key awdit mamer,

Refer to Motes 5 and 11 (o the consolidated finaneial statements for the disclosures on land at revalued amount,

Auidit responsze

We reviewed the scope, bases, methodology and results of the work done by the Group’s external appraisers
whose professioml gualifications, competence, capabsilities, and abjectivity were also taken info consideration,
We compared the relevant information supporting the sales price of similar properiies and the adustments
made to the sales price against real estate industry data. We also reviewed the Growp's disclosures with
respect 1o the fur value of the Linid.

Recoverability of Nonfinancial Asvers

Under PFRESs, the Group s required 1o anmually est Tor impairment nenfimancial assets wath mdelinite useful
lives and for those nonfinancial assets with finite useful lives, if there are indicators of impainment. The Group
ks goodwill attributable o the acquisition of Malayan Education System. Inc. amounting to #137_85 million,
intellectual property rights with indefinite life amounting to 523,10 million, and property and equipment and
righi-of-use assels of a subsidury agereeating o P3535 18 million as of December 20, 20021 that were tested for
impairment, These nonfinancial assets are considered significant to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, mamgement’s assessment process invelves judements and 15 based on assumptions which are subject
o higher level of estimation uncertainty due we the current economic conditions which have been impacted by
the coronavirus pandemic, The assumptions used in estimating the discounted cash flow projections include
forecasted revenues, long-term growth rates, rovalty rates, and discount rites.

The Group's diselosures about nonfimancial azzets are included in Motes 5,6, 10, 12 and 31 tw the consolidated
financial statements,

Areelit response

We involved our internal specialist in evaluating the methodology and assumptions used, 'We obtained an
understanding of the Group's impairment model and the assumptions on the key business drivers of the cash
flow forccasts such as the revenue from number of forccasted students and related wition and other
matriculation fees. We checked if the Group has considered the impact of the coronavirus pandemic on these
key assumptions and also compared them against historical performance. We compared the long-term growth
rafes and rovaliy rates against relevant published market information, We tested the parameters used in the
determination of discount rates against market data. In sddition, we reviewed the Group's disclosures about
those assumptions to which the cutcome of the impairment tests is most sensitive, that is, those that have the
miosl significant effect on the determination of the recoverable amount of these azsels,

Adeguacy af Allowance for Expected Credit Loss (ECL)
The Group-applies sumphified approach in caloebatinge expected credit loss (ECL). Under this approach, the
Group generally establishes a provision matris that is based on its historical credit loss experience and adjusted

for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. Allowance for ECL and the
provision for ECL on receivables from uition and other fees as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021

amounted o P2EE 12 million and P14.23 million, respectively.
R
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The Group's calculation of allowance for DCL is significant to our awdit as it invelves the exercise of
significant management judgment. Key arcas of judgment include: segmenting the Group's credit risk
exposures; defining default; determining assumptions to be used in the ECL model such as the expected
life of the financial asset and timing and amount of expected net recoveries from defaulted accounts; and
incorpomting forward-looking information (called overlaya), including the impact of the coronavinus
pandemic, in calculating ECL.

The disclosures on the allowance for BECL are imcluded in Motes 5 and B to the consolidated financial
slatemenis,

Awedlt risspieriise

We updated our understanding of the approved methodolopy and assumptions used for the Group's different
credit exposures and reassessed whether these considered the requirements of PFRS 9 to reflect an unbiased
and probability-weighted oucome and the best avanlable forward-looking information.

We (a) asscssed the Group's segmentation of its credit risk exposures based on homogeneity of eredit risk
characteristics; (b} checked the definition of defanlt against historical analysis of accounts and credit risk

management policies and practices in place and management’s assessment of the impact of the coronavins
pandemic on the counterpanies; (¢) checked historical foss rates by inspecting hisiprical recoveries including
the write-offs; (d) checked the classification of outstanding exposures to their comesponding aging buckets;
and () evaluated the forward-looking mformation wsed for overlay through corroboration using publicly
available information and our understanding of the Group's receivable portfolios and industry practices,
including the impact of the coronavims pandemic.,

Further, we checked the data wsed in the ECL models, such as the historical analvsis of defaulis, by reconciling
data from loss allowance analysis'model to the source reports and financial reporting svstem, To the extent
that the logs allowance analygis is bused on eredit exposures that have been disagpregated mio subzets with
similar nsk charactenstics, we traced of re-performed the disagprepation from source reports 1o The loss
allowance analysis,

We recaleulated the impairment provisions. We checked the disclosures made in the Ninancial statements on
allowance for ECL by tracing such disclosures (o the ECL analysiz prepaned by management

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other inforination comprises the information
inchided in the SEC Form 20-15 {Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Repon for
e weur endhed December 31, 2021, but does nol include the consolidaied Doamcsl salements and var
auditor's report thereon.  The 8EC Form 20-18 (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and
Annual Repont for the yvear ended December 31, 2021 are expected 1o be mode available (o us afler the dawe of
this auditor’s report,

Chur opimeon on the consobdated Nmancial statements does nod cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclugion thereon,

In connection with our andits of the congolidated financial statements, our responsibility is @ read the ather
information wentified above when 1t becomes available and, in doing 5o, consider whether the other
information s matertally inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
ihe audits, or otherwise appears 1o be materially misstated,

& rarror ol Ermal & Foomg Gleesl L



SGV

Buifdardg 3 DiEther
working worid

Sil=

Responsibilitics of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statemonts

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with PFRSs, and for such infernal control as manspement determines 15 necessary 10 enable the
preparation of conselidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
O grPOr,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, munagement is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
By continue a5 o gormng concem, disclosmge, us applicable, matters related 1o poing concern and wsing the poing
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 1o liquidate the Group or 16 cease operations, or
hus no realsie altermative bt to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Anditer’s Responsibilities for the Awdit of the Conselidwted Finuncial Statements

Chur objectives are 1o oblain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whale are free from material misstatersent, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Ressonsble sssumnce 15 m high level of assurpnce, but 1s not o guarsntee that on oodit
conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect 1 material misstatement when 1t exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decizions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
Anancial statements,

Az pant of an audit in accordance with P3As, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. ‘We also:

& |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those nsks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of nol detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as frasd may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional comissions, misrepresentations, of the averride of internal control,

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order o design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the cicumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control,

#  Evaluaie the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the ressonnbleness of accounting estimatbes
and related disclosures made by management.

s Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concemn basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubd on the Group’s ability to continee as a going concern, 1T we conclude that a
miaterial uncertainty exists, we ane reguired to draw attention in our auditor’s report 1o the relaned
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadeguate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease o continue s 4 going concern.

& rarror ol Ermal & Foomg Gleesl L



SGV

Byiidireg A BiEther
weoer g worrid

= Evalumie e overmll presentotios, sioscluee aml content of the copsolidated Drameel stlements, e leding
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated fimancial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events ina manmer that schieves fair presentation,

=  Obtain sufficient appropriate awdit cvidenee negarding the financial informmation of the entitics or busincss
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the dircction, supervision and performance of the audit. ' We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, smong other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in intemal control that
we identify during our awdit.

We also provide those charged with govemance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonebly be thiought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related sateguands.

From the matters communicated with those charged with govemance, we determine those matters that were of
mirsl stegnificance i the awdit of the consehdated financial statements of the current penod and are therefore
the key audin matters, Wi describe these matiers inoour auditor™s report unless law or regulaoon precludes
public disclosure about the matier or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected 0 outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audif resulting in this mdependent auditor’s report is Ana Lea C, Bergado.

EWCIP GORRES WELAYO & OO0,

Ous loa O Busgaris

Ang Lea C. Bergado
Pariner
CPA Certificate Mo, 80470
Tax Identification Mo, 102-082-670
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid until April 15, 2024
SEC Partner Accreditation Mo, 0660-AR-3 (Group Al
October 22, 2019, valid uniil October 21, 2022
SEC Firm Accreditation No. 0001-5EC (Group A)
Wolid to cover awdit of 2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered stitutions
BIE Accreditation Mo, 08-0019%8-063- 2020, Movember 27, 2020, valid untl November 26, 2023
PTR Mo, BB53473, January 3, 2000, Makat: City

April 1, 2022
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of iPeople, inc. & Subsidinries s responsible for the preparation end fair presentation
of the financial srements including the schedules altached therein, for the vears ended Decemnber 31, 2021,
2020 mnd 2019, in sccordance with the prescribed financial reparting framework indicated therein, and for
such intemal control as management determines is necessary o enable the preparation of financial
statements thit are Tree from material misstatement, whether doe 1o fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Companys ability to
conlinue a3 & going concern, disclosing, ss applicable matters related to going concern and wsing the going
concern basis of sccounting unless managemen elther imends to lquidse the Company of to cease
operations, of has no realistic aliemative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ocversesing the Company s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews. and approves the financial statements including the schedules atisched
therein, and submits the same to the stockholders or members.

EvCip, Gorres, Velaye & Ca., the independent auditor appointed by the steckholders, has audited the
financial statements of the company i accordance with Philippane Standards on Auditing, and in L5 report
to the stockholders or members, ling expressed its opinion on the faimess of presentation upon completion
of such audit

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

A.mem.'tum

President and Chief Operating Officer
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iPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

{ Amounts in Thousands)

December 31
2021 2020
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 7, 15 and 30) B1.604,129 £1,319,002
Receivables (Motes & and 30) 1,032,851 1,036,297
Receivables from related partics (Motes 15 and 30) 26,077 26,048
Prepaid expenses and other curment assets {Mote 9) 391,021 270,604
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FYTPL)
[Miote 30] 9,213 8,705
Total Current Assels 3,063,291 2,661 656
Moncurrend Assels
Property and equipment at cost (Note 1) 5,407,008 5.585.512
Land at revalued amounts (MNotes 10 and 117 6,460,845 6,219,772
Intellectual property rights (Note 6) 515,103 523,103
Goodwill (Notes 6 and 12) 151,326 151,326
Sturdent relaticnship (Note 6) 43,761 TH,825
Right-ofuse assets (Mote 31) 309 391 346,905
Net pension assets (Note 25) 18,130 4,727
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 23) IR, 118 31,901
Cither noncurment assels {Niote 13) 113,671 08027
Total Noncurrent Assels 13,065,353 13,050,098
Pl16,128.644 P15.711.754

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts pavable and other current liabilitics (Motcs 14 and 20) BLO3G 11D Pl 1555085
Shori-term loans (Motes 16 and 200 ETETR T AT5 000
Uneamed income { Note 14) hEH, 389 GRS TH
Lease liabilities - current portion (Note 31) 50,550 44,174
Current portion of long-term loan (Note 17) 21,011
Income tax payable 2,157 12,482
Pavahles to related parties {Notes 15 and 300} 14,135 20 481
Dividends pavable (Notes |8 and 30) 565 563
Total Current Liabilities 2,182,916 2,297 Be5
Moncurreat Liabilities
Met pension liabilities (Note 25) 124,152 [68, 134
Long-term loans (Note [ T) 1.853.645 1LE72 275
Lease habilities - net of current portion (Note 31) 307,276 348 408
Deferred tax habilities - net (Note 23) 489,169 476,977
Cither noncoament labilities (Note 31} 51,683 Si0a ]
Total Moncurrent Liabilities 2,815,915 2921 B
Total Liahilities 5,008,541 5219750

{Forward)



December 31

2021 2020
Equity
Common stock (Notes 6 and 18) P1,044.263 P1.044 263
Additional paid-in capital (Naote &) 3294308 3,294 36%
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Revalustion increment on land - net {Mote 11) 1.633.847 1,425 033
Remeasurement losses on defined benefit plans
(Note 25) (15,033) (76,722)
Equity reserve (Note 6) {230,494) {230.494)
Retained carmings (Mot 18) S, 142420 4,795,908
10,869,371 10, 252416
Treasury stock (Note 18) = (21}
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 10,869,371 10,252,416
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries (Note 27) 250,432 239,588
Total Equity 11,119,503 10,492,004
Pl6.128.044 #15.711.754

Sev pocompoamying Motex Jo Conelichared Fivencinl Stotemenrs.



iPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

{Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2019
[ | 2010 {Mode B
REVESUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(Mot 19}
Revemie from schooks and related opertions #3,351,.067 P3,017,106 M
COSTS AND EXPENSES
st of schools amd relaed opertions | Sose 200 11,514,579 {200 54080 |20, O
GROSS PROFIT L A3 ARR (WU LU 056,113
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES { Mote 21) { TOZ,350) (B15,942) (481,461 )
INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCE CHARGES (Mote 22) (13R5TT) {151,762} { 129,338)
INTEREST INCOME (MNofes 7 and 22) f.192 10,897 22,758
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - Met (Moe 113 A1670 34,101 (26,986)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX LERR L] 104992 341,636
BENEFIT FROM (PROVISION FOR) INOOME TAX (Moe 275 An AT (32818 (67,5055
NET INCOME 03, TR 142,174 214041
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1LOS5)
Cher conmredfesive incone (lasc mat bo be recloenfiead fo profi or
lows in shsegaeml perids;
Hevaluation merement on lamd - net of tax (Mo 11) 75 408 AR 9.3
Beversal of deférred tax Bability on revaluation incremnent of
land sold threugh sale of subsidiany - net of ax (Mote 1) - I 46,933 -
Beoversal of deferred e Enbility on revolustion increment due
change in tax rate {MNode 23} T.764 - -
Remensurement gains (losses) on defined benefit plans — nes of
ta { T 25 (7827 {55,304 (57.274)
Fair virlue seerve of equaby instraments ab EYVOCE(Nabe 30 - - 3093
276 MG I 2H5 {44,400 )
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ﬂ-ﬂ'l.-l_!is RE32. 459 129 638
Met incomse attributable fo;
Eguity holders of the parent (Mote 26 PGS9.108 P245.818 R254.588
M on=eoniralling miens in comsolidated subsidmries (MNote 27 4,681 [ERE ST 15, 5012
Pieh 3, TRG P2 1T P10
Total eomprehensive income aitnbaable o
Fuity holders of the punent U611 PRIS 954 B212.357
Mo-controlling meerest in consalulated subsidiares (Mo 27) 10,844 16,475 17,131
P A58 P32 A50 R GEE
*Basic/liluted Earnings Per Shave (Mo 26) LR B 2354 a5

See aeoomporving Notes fo Consendiaafed Fivernvind Stotemenis.
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iPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31

o014
2021 220 [ Mesle &)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Income before inceme tax B33 4l4 B4 992 #141.686
Adjustments for
Drepreciation and mmorization
(Modes 140, 13, 20 and 21) 456,685 403,422 39Tl
Interest expense and other Onance chirges
{Node 22} 140,949 [ 78,294 129,338
Provesson for doubaful accounts {Notes 8 and 21) 114,229 48,755 7o
Reversal on impairment on land (Note 11) (15, 763) (5.238)
Interest income (Mote 22) (6,192} [ 10,897) (22,758)
Unrcalized forcign exchange loss (gain - net {450} {183 1113
Unrealized market foss (gain) on financial assets
at FV'TPL 492 [355) (6500
Dperaling meome before working capital changes 1,323,364 947,143 Bd5. 811
Decrease (increase) in:
Receivables [RRLINEY N (95.364) (416,734}
Prepaid expenses and other current as=cts (1204 16) [S4,635060) 04,0107
Incroase (decrease )
Accounts payable and other current linhilities { HMLOETY (58,029 22388
Linsrned mcome (22.189) {10,128 45], 782
Chber noncurrent linbulites 1713 (2.290) 75,644
Mt pension ssets and linbilites i54) 40,748 (22.970)
Net cash generated from operations 980,760 637,423 1,129,938
Interest paid (137410 (139,509 (100, 550)
[ncome taxes pasd (567) (41.025) (63,275)
Interest received 6,050 10,734 22.637
Met cash lows from operaling activilies B48.833 467.223 Q87,750
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:
Property and equipment (Notes 10 and 29) {18#3,735) (BE1.BET) (1.437.213)
Computer software (Note 13) {15479 i B4 -
Accguisition through husiness combination - nel
of noncash: soquired (MNote &) - - 1,20] 5K
Mon-controlling interest {MNote &) L = (ER1.GE]
Proceeds from disposal of:
Land through sale of subsidiary (Note 1) - | 754,800 -
Fquity mstruments at FYOCT (Note 307 - - 17,482
Decrease (increase) in:
Receivables from relsted pares (2B} (25 443) (15.927)
Chher noncurrent assets 5,284 515 2,181
Net cish Mows from (used o) investing dclivilies (193,958) B47.447 (1,023,044

i Forwand)



Years Ended December 31

20049
2021 2020 {Mmde &)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from shorl=term loans (Notes 16 and 29) 3, 000 PII0L530 P1LAT ()
Payments of shost-term lopns (Notes 16 and 29 (3T5,000) {1254 3500 (2,348,200
Dividends paid to stockholders {Mote 29§ {32656 (73,2345 (1E6,781)
Pavment of lease labilities {MNote 310 (67, 196} (Bl B26) (49,101 )
Incresse (decrense) n pavibles to related parties
[ Made 27) (15345) 14070 2,398
Mroceeds from |-n'r!5-1|:rn1 loans {Mote 29) - - 1T G0
Tax on issuance of new shares (MNoda §) - = (2.953)
Net cush flows from (used in} fimancing setivities (370,197} (L1501, 8040 B2, 266
EFFECTS O0F EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 449 1830 (505])
MNET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 285,127 | b, 650 S, 467
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,319,002 1,154,306 587,839
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR (Notes T and 30} #1.604,129 1,319,002 1,154,306

Sew pocongraiving Mores o Convolioared Flrancud Sinemenrs



IPEOPLE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E

Corporate Information

iPeople, inc. (the Parent Company) is a publicly-listed stock corporation registered and incorporated
on July 27, 1989 under the laws of the Philippines.

The Parent Company, a subsidiary of House of Investments, Inc. (HI), is a holding and management
company. Its principal office address is at 3" Floor, Grepalife Building, 219 Sen. Gil 1. Puyat
Avenue, Makati City. iPeople, inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group™) are
mainly involved in education sector with the list of subsidiaries disclosed in Note 2.

The Group is a member of the Yuchengeo Group of Companies (Y GC). The Group's ultimate parent
is Pan Malavan Management and Investrment Corporation { PMBMIC).

Merger with AC Education, Inc.

O October 1, 2018, the Board of Directors (BODY of iPeople, ine. executed o memorandum of
agreement (MOA) for a proposed Plan of Merger between iPeople, inc. and AC Education, [nc.

{ AEIL), the wholly owned education arm of Ayala Corporation (AC), with iPeople, inc. as the
surviving entitv with Hl and AC owning 48.18% and 33.5%, respectively. The merger would bring
together the educational group of HI and AC,

The proposed merger was subsequently approved by iPeaple, inc.'s Stockholders on

December 12, 2018 and was approved by the Philippine Competition Commission (PCC) on
December 12, 20018, On April 24, 20049, the Securities and Exchange Commission ($EC) approved
the merger between iPeople, inc. and AEIL with iPeople, inc. as the surviving entity, and to take effect
five business working davs thereatier or May 2, 2019, On said date, iPeople, inc. issued 295,329,976
common shares from its unissued capital stock to AC, After the merger, iPeople, inc. became 48, 18%
owvned by HI and 33.5% owned by AC, Details of the merger is disclosed in Mote 6.

=

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost basis,
except for the land which is under revaluation model and financial assets at fair value through profit
of loss (FWTPL)Y. The consolidated financial statements are prosented in Plalippine Peso (P), which is
the Parent Company's functional currency, Except as otherwise indicated, all amounts are rounded
off to the nearest thousands.

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRSs),

51 : 1dat
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting vear as the Parent
Company, using consistent accounting policies. All inercompany balances and transactions,
including imcome, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full.



S

Below are the Group's subsidiaries and percentage of ownership:

Percentage of Ownership

10zl 2020 2019
Malayan Bdweation System, Inc, (MEST) [Operating Under the Name of
Blapun Universaty ] and subsadianies 112 LHHS (EELE
Diircet owmership of MESI on iis subhsidiaries:
Maleynn Collepes Laguna, Ine., A Mopun Schiool (MCLI 1o 100 100
Malayan Codlopes Mindarsd { A Mapua School ), Ine (MU lam (L] 101
Malayan High School of Scicnce, Inc. { MHSS1) 100 100 100
Mapun Information Technology Center, Ineo. (MTTC) 1am 100 100
Mapun Techsery, Inc 1am 100 100
Mapun Techpower, lne 75 74 T
San Lorenzo Ruiz Invesiment Holdings and Services Ing, (SLRIHST* - = L]
People eServe Corporation 1an 100 100
Fan Pacifle Computer Center, Ineorparated (FROCT 1iiin 101 10
Mew smbsidiaries in 2009 afier the merger | Mote [
Affordable Private Edueation Center, Inc. doing business under the mame of
APEC Schodls Tam 100 100
mational Teachers Callege domg business undar the maime’s
nnd stvie’s of The Mutonol Teachers College 08,79 95,79 99,79
University af Mueva Caceries Hinl 2162 362
AL College of Enterprise and Technobegy, Inc. 1 104 161
LIMC Institute, Ing, doing business under the Mame
and Siyle of LINC Academy 1on 104 1010

“Satd o December 2020000 B feee Mo 1),
All subsidianes were incorporated in the Philippines.

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Parent Company has control. Control 15 achieved when the
Parent Company is exposed, or has rights to variable retums from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those retums through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Parent
Company controls an investes if and only il the Parent Company has:

s power over the imvestee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee),

= exposure, or rights, 1o variable returns from s involvement with the investes; and

= the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an mviestes, including:

s the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investes;
s rights ansing from other contractual arrangements; and
o the Parent Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights,

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.
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A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

o derecognizes the assets (inchuding goodwill} and liabilities of the subsidiary:

o recopnizes the fair value of the consideration received;

o recognizes the fair value of any investment relained:
recopnies any surplus or deficil in profilor loss; and
reclassifies the Group's share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive
income (OCT) to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Mon-controlling interest represents interest inoa subsidiany which 15 not owned, divectly or indivectiy.
by the Parent Company and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and within equity in the consolidated stetement of finuncial position, separately from the
Giroup's shareholders equity. Transactions with non-controlling interests are handled in the same way
as transactions with external partics,

Changes in Accounting Policies

The accounting pelicies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial vear, except for
the adoption of new standards effective as at Janwary 1, 2021, The adoption of these pronouncements
did not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

o Amendments to PFRS 9, PAS 39, PFRS 7. PFRS 4 and PFRS 16, Inferest Rare Benchmark
Reforin = Phose 2
e Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-{9-related Rent Concessions bevond 30 June 2021

Standards ssued vel Effectiv

Pronouncements issued but not vet effective are listed below.

Effective beginning on ov afier Jompary |, 2022
o  Amendments to PERS 3, Reference fo the Conceptial Framework
s Amendments to PAS 16 | Plonr and Equipment; Proceeds befire fitended Ulse
o Amendments to PAS 37, Onerous Contracty - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract
o Amnual Improvements to PFRSs 201 8-2020 Cyele
o Amendments to PFRS 1, Firse-time Adopeion of Philippines Finaneial Reporting Stndards,
Subsiciary as g fivst-time adoprer
o Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial fnsiruments, Fees in the "1 per cent” test for
clerecapnition of financiol Nabilives
o Amendments to PAS 41, Agriculiure, Taxarion in fair value measiremmens

Effective beginning on or after Jomary 1, 2023

o Amendments o PAS 13, ﬂe"__.l'@"m-'{f Terr wredeetedd fa devere o Fialalinies ;rr]t'r'ng‘;l'i-?m; & .'!-i'i'ngll.c'
Tramsaction

o Amendments to PAS B, Definition of Accounting Estimotes

s Amendments to PAS | and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accouniing Policies

Effective heginning on or after Jonuary 1, 2024
o Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Linhilities as Current or Non-ciyrent



Effective beginning on or afier Janwary I, 20235
o PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

Deferred effeciiviry
o Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Fivancial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Comiribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Assodare or Joint Venture

The Group does not expect the future adoption of the applicable pronouncements to have a significant
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

The Group continues to assess the impact of the above new and amended accounting standards and

e pretasions cleutive sulnayquet e 2021 vinhie hvap's vuorsulideied Tnancial siamsns in s

peniod of initial application, Additional disclosures required by these amendments will be included in
the consalidated financial statements when these amendments are adopted

. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Casl equivalents are short-term, highly liquid invesiments
that are readily convertible to known amounts <f cash with oniginal maturities of three (3) months or
fess from date of placement and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,

Eair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

wamac i beiween s ket pastivipanes at e psasscmen da. The lais value teasmcien is
hased on the presumption that the transaction tc sell the asset or transfer the Lability takes place
either:

= In the principal murket for the asse or lability; or
e Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or hability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or lability, ssuming that market participants act in their econome
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
gonerate economic benefits by wsing the asset 1 its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and habilitics for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categonzed within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as & whole:

o Level ] - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities



